BLOCH WAVE HOMOGENIZATION AND SPECTRAL ASYMPTOTIC ANALYSIS

By Grégoire ALLAIRE and Carlos CONCA

ABSTRACT. - We consider a second-order elliptic equation in a bounded periodic heterogeneous medium and study the asymptotic behavior of its spectrum, as the structure period goes to zero. We use a new method of *Bloch wave homogenization* which, unlike the classical homogenization method, characterizes a renormalized limit of the spectrum, namely sequences of eigenvalues of the order of the square of the medium period. We prove that such a renormalized limit spectrum is made of two parts: the so-called *Bloch spectrum*, which is explicitly defined as the spectrum of a family of limit problems, and the so-called *boundary layer spectrum*, which is made of limit eigenvalues corresponding to sequences of eigenvectors concentrating on the boundary of the domain. This analysis relies also on a notion of *Bloch measures* which can be seen as ad hoc Wigner measures in the context of semi-classical analysis. Finally, for rectangular domains made of entire periodicity cells, a variant of the Bloch wave homogenization method gives an explicit characterization of the boundary layer spectrum too. © Elsevier, Paris

Key words: Homogenization, Bloch waves, spectral analysis, boundary layers.

RÉSUMÉ. – On considère une équation elliptique du deuxième ordre dans un milieu périodique hétérogène borné, et on étudie le comportement asymptotique de son spectre lorsque la période tend vers zéro. On utilise une nouvelle méthode d'homogénéisation par ondes de Bloch qui, contrairement aux méthodes classiques d'homogénéisation, caractérise la limite renormalisée du spectre, et plus précisément les suites de valeurs propres de l'ordre du carré de la période. On démontre que le spectre limite renormalisé est constitué de deux parties : un spectre de Bloch, qui est explicitement caractérisé comme le spectre d'une famille de problèmes limites, et un spectre de couche limite, qui est l'ensemble des limites de suites de valeurs propres dont les vecteurs propres correspondants se concentrent sur le bord du domaine. L'analyse présentée repose sur une notion de mesures de Bloch qui peuvent être vues comme des versions ad hoc des mesures de Wigner utilisées en analyse semi-classique. Enfin, pour des domaines rectangulaires constitués uniquement de cellules de périodicité entières, une variante de la méthode d'homogénéisation par ondes de Bloch permet de donner aussi une caractérisation explicite du spectre de couche limite. © Elsevier, Paris

Contents

1. Introduction	154
2. Classical homogenization.	156
3. Main results	160
4. Bloch wave homogenization.	164
5. Completeness	173
JOURNAL DE MATHÉMATIQUES PURES ET APPLIQUÉES. – 0021-7824/1998/02 © Elsevier, Paris	

G. ALLAIRE AND C. CONCA

6. Non-critical scalings.	184
6.1. Large scales: $\epsilon \ll a_{\epsilon} \ll 1$	185
6.2. Small scales: $a_{\epsilon} \ll \epsilon$	189
7. Boundary layer spectrum.	190
7.1. Boundary layer homogenization.	190
7.2. Completeness of the boundary layer spectrum.	199
7.3. Analysis of the corner spectrum in 2-D	205

1. Introduction

Given a smooth bounded domain Ω in \mathbb{R}^N occupied by a periodic heterogeneous medium, of period $\epsilon \in \mathbb{R}^+$, we consider the following spectral problem for the wave equation in Ω . Find all couples $(\lambda_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times H_0^1(\Omega), v_{\epsilon} \neq 0$, such that

(1)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}\left[A\left(x,\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)\nabla v_{\epsilon}\right] = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\epsilon}}v_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ v_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

The coefficients of equation (1) are given by a coercive, symmetric matrix A(x, y) which is smooth as a function of x and Y-periodic as a function of y (Y denotes the unit cube $[0,1]^N$). More precisely, we assume that

(2)
$$A(x,y) \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{\Omega}; L^{\infty}_{\#}(Y)^{N \times N}).$$

In particular, assumption (2) implies that $A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$ is a measurable function in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)^{N \times N}$ and the spectral problem (1) is well-posed. Let σ_{ϵ} be the spectrum of (1), *i.e.* the set of eigenvalues λ_{ϵ} solutions of (1). As is well-known, for fixed ϵ , and since Ω is bounded, the spectrum σ_{ϵ} is discrete, made of a countable sequence of eigenvalues converging to 0 (plus the accumulation point 0)

(3)
$$\sigma_{\epsilon} = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \{\lambda_{\epsilon}^k\} \quad \text{with} \quad \lambda_{\epsilon}^1 \ge \lambda_{\epsilon}^2 \ge \cdots \ge \lambda_{\epsilon}^k \ge \cdots \to 0.$$

To each eigenvalue λ_{ϵ}^k is associated a normalized eigenfunction $v_{\epsilon}^k \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that $||v_{\epsilon}^k||_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$ and the family $\{v_{\epsilon}^k\}_{k \ge 1}$ is an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\Omega)$.

The purpose of our work is to study the asymptotic behavior of the spectrum σ_{ϵ} when the period ϵ goes to 0. The second-order elliptic partial differential equation (1) is just a model problem. Our original motivation comes from more complicated models, describing the vibrations of fluid-solid structures, which were introduced by Planchard [39], [40] and extensively studied in [1], [16], [17], [18]. Actually, all our new results presented here were first applied to this problem of fluid-solid structures in [6], [7]. Our goal here is to expose in a single self-contained paper our complete theory in a systematic way on a simpler problem. Other motivations for studying the asymptotic behavior of σ_{ϵ} are the

томе 77 - 1998 - N° 2

154

numerical computation of solutions of the wave equation in periodic media (cf. [33], [45], [46]), and the control of the wave equation in such media (cf. [15]). Let us emphasize that our method for studying the limit behavior of σ_{ϵ} works equally well for a vector or a scalar equation, and is indifferent to the type of boundary conditions.

In the next section we shall recall classical results of homogenization which describe completely the "usual" limit of σ_{ϵ} by finding the limit of each eigenvalue λ_{ϵ}^{k} when ϵ goes to 0 with fixed index k. Such a limit is usually called a *low frequency limit*. Indeed, recall that the vibration eigenfrequencies for the wave equation are related to the eigenvalues of (1) by

$$(\omega_{\epsilon}^k)^2 = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\epsilon}^k}.$$

Physically, it means that the low frequency limit gives the homogenized behavior of eigenmodes which vary on a scale much larger than the period ϵ . This situation is by now fairly well understood. However, a physically relevant case is the so-called *high frequency limit*, *i.e.* the asymptotic behavior of eigenvalues λ_{ϵ}^{k} which converge to 0 when ϵ goes to 0 and k to $+\infty$.

In section 3 we state our main new results concerning this high frequency limit of σ_{ϵ} . We characterize renormalized limits of the type $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} a_{\epsilon}^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}$ where a_{ϵ} is an eigenfrequency scaling which goes to 0 with ϵ . For all scalings a_{ϵ} such that either $a_{\epsilon} << \epsilon$ or $a_{\epsilon} >> \epsilon$, we show that the limit of $a_{\epsilon}^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}$ is simply the entire half-line \mathbb{R}^+ . When $a_{\epsilon} = \epsilon$, we prove a deeper result, namely that the limit of $\epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}$ is made of two parts: the so-called Bloch spectrum, which is explicitly defined as the spectrum of a family of limit problems, and the so-called boundary layer spectrum, which is made of limit eigenvalues corresponding to sequences of eigenvectors concentrating on the boundary of the domain. We refer to section 3 for a more detailed discussion of our results.

In section 4 we apply our new method of Bloch wave homogenization to equation (1) in order to prove that the Bloch spectrum is indeed part of the limit of $\epsilon^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon}$. The Bloch wave homogenization method is a combination of two-scale convergence (*see* [2], [36]) and of Bloch wave decomposition (also known as Floquet decomposition, *see* [12], [22]).

In section 5 we prove a completeness result which states that the difference between the limit of $\epsilon^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon}$ and the Bloch spectrum is exactly equal to the boundary layer spectrum. Our main tool is the notion of Bloch measures which is a new type of default measure, very similar to the Wigner measure (*see* [24], [31], [32]) although specific to the present situation.

In section 6 we prove that all other renormalized limits of $a_{\epsilon}^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon}$ with either $a_{\epsilon} << \epsilon$ or $a_{\epsilon} >> \epsilon$ are equal to \mathbb{R}^+ . In such a case, there is no interaction of the singular perturbation at scale a_{ϵ} and the homogenization at scale ϵ , and this result is obtained by using the notion of three-scale convergence.

Finally section 7 is devoted to a complete study of the boundary layer spectrum when the domain Ω and the sequence ϵ are chosen in such a way that Ω is always the union of a finite number of entire periodicity cells. In this case, the boundary layer spectrum is explicitly characterized as the spectrum of a new family of limit problems associated to the boundary of Ω . G. ALLAIRE AND C. CONCA

2. Classical homogenization

The question of finding the limit of the spectrum σ_{ϵ} has already attracted a lot of attention. Indeed, using the classical homogenization technique (as described, *e.g.* in [9], [10], [27], [35], [44]), the low-frequency or homogenized limit of σ_{ϵ} has been found in [13], [29], [38], [48]. We briefly describe the procedure to obtain this homogenized limit.

As is well known, for fixed ϵ , to find the spectrum, *i.e.* the set of all solutions $(\lambda_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times H^1_0(\Omega), v_{\epsilon} \neq 0$, of

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}\left[A(x,\frac{x}{\epsilon})\nabla v_{\epsilon}\right] = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\epsilon}}v_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ v_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

is equivalent to the spectral study of the following linear operator

(4)
$$\begin{cases} S_{\epsilon} : L^{2}(\Omega) & \longrightarrow & L^{2}(\Omega) \\ f & \longrightarrow & u_{\epsilon}, \end{cases}$$

where u_{ϵ} is the unique solution in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ of

(5)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}[A(x,\frac{x}{\epsilon})\nabla u_{\epsilon}] = f & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

It is easily seen that S_{ϵ} is a self-adjoint compact operator in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$. Its spectrum is discrete made of a countable sequence of eigenvalues converging to 0 (plus the limit point 0)

$$\sigma(S_{\epsilon}) = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \{\lambda_{\epsilon}^k\} \quad \text{with} \quad \lambda_{\epsilon}^1 \ge \lambda_{\epsilon}^2 \ge \cdots \ge \lambda_{\epsilon}^k \ge \cdots \to 0.$$

To each λ_{ϵ}^k is associated a normalized eigenfunction $v_{\epsilon}^k \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that $||v_{\epsilon}^k||_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$ and the family $\{v_{\epsilon}^k\}_k$ is an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\Omega)$.

To describe the limit or homogenized operator, we introduce the homogenized equation for (5). Let us define first a homogenized matrix $A^*(x)$, for almost any $x \in \Omega$, by

(6)
$$A^*(x)\zeta \cdot \zeta = \min_{\phi \in H^1_{\#}(Y)} \int_{Y} A(x,y)(\zeta + \nabla \phi(y)) \cdot (\zeta + \nabla \phi(y)) dy \quad \forall \zeta \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

REMARK 2.1. – Since A(x, y) is symmetric by definition, formula (6) makes sense and defines a unique symmetric matrix $A^*(x)$. Furthermore, $A^*(x)$ enjoys the same coercivity and boundedness properties than A(x, y).

Then, a limit operator S is defined by

$$\begin{cases} S: L^2(\Omega) & \longrightarrow & L^2(\Omega) \\ f & \longrightarrow & u, \end{cases}$$

where u is the unique solution in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ of the homogenized equation for (5)

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}[A^*(x)\nabla u] = f & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

томе 77 – 1998 – n° 2

Clearly S is a self-adjoint compact operator in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$. Its spectrum $\sigma(S)$ is exactly

$$\sigma(S) = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \{\lambda^k\} \quad \text{with} \quad \lambda^1 \ge \lambda^2 \ge \cdots \ge \lambda^k \ge \cdots \to 0$$

The main result of [13], [29], [38], [48] is the following:

THEOREM 2.2. – The sequence of operators S_{ϵ} converges uniformly to S in the space $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$. As a consequence, for a fixed $k \geq 1$,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \lambda_{\epsilon}^k = \lambda^k$$

and there exists a normalized eigenfunction $v^k \in L^2(\Omega)$ of S, with $||v^k||_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$, associated to each λ^k such that, up to a subsequence,

$$v_{\epsilon}^{k} \longrightarrow v^{k}$$
 strongly in $L^{2}(\Omega)$.

REMARK 2.3. – In Theorem 2.2 the convergence of the eigenvectors holds up to a subsequence, even if they are carefully normalized. The reason is that S may have eigenvalues of multiplicity larger than one, implying that a sequence v_{ϵ}^{k} may have several accumulation points which are all eigenvectors of S associated to the same eigenvalue.

REMARK 2.4. – Theorem 2.2 shows that $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(S_{\epsilon}) = \sigma(S)$, but it does not say anything on sequences λ_{ϵ}^{k} where both ϵ goes to 0 and k goes to $+\infty$ (such sequences go to 0). This latter situation is called a high frequency limit, while Theorem 2.2 gives a low frequency limit. The goal of the remaining sections of this paper is to describe this high frequency limit.

Although classical, the proof of Theorem 2.2 contains many useful ideas for the sequel, so we recall it briefly. The uniform convergence of S_{ϵ} is a straightforward consequence of the following classical result of the homogenization theory, the proof of which may be found in [10], [27], [35].

PROPOSITION 2.5. – Let f_{ϵ} be a sequence in $L^2(\Omega)$ which converges weakly to a limit f. Let u_{ϵ} be the unique solution in $H^1_0(\Omega)$ of

(7)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla u_{\epsilon} = f_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \Omega\\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

The sequence u_{ϵ} converges weakly in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, and thus strongly in $L^2(\Omega)$ by Rellich theorem, to a limit u which is the unique solution in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ of the homogenized equation

(8)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} A^*(x)\nabla u = f & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

where $A^*(x)$ is the homogenized matrix defined by (6).

Proof of Theorem 2.2. – To prove the uniform convergence of S_{ϵ} to S amounts to check that

$$||S_{\epsilon} - S|| = \sup_{||f||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1} ||S_{\epsilon}f - Sf||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$$

goes to zero with ϵ . For fixed ϵ , let f_{ϵ} be an ϵ -minimizer, *i.e.* a function such that $||f_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1$ and

$$\sup_{\|f\|_{L^2(\Omega)}=1} \|S_{\epsilon}f - Sf\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \|S_{\epsilon}f_{\epsilon} - Sf_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon.$$

Since the sequence f_{ϵ} is bounded in $L^2(\Omega)$, there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a limit f such that the subsequence f_{ϵ} converges weakly to f in $L^2(\Omega)$. By virtue of Proposition 2.5 the sequence $S_{\epsilon}f_{\epsilon}$ converges strongly to Sf in $L^2(\Omega)$. Moreover, since Sis a compact operator, Sf_{ϵ} converges also strongly to Sf in $L^2(\Omega)$. Thus, we have:

$$\sup_{\|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}=1} \|S_{\epsilon}f - Sf\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq \|S_{\epsilon}f_{\epsilon} - Sf\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|Sf_{\epsilon} - Sf\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon,$$

which goes to zero with ϵ . This is true for any converging subsequence of f_{ϵ} . Therefore, this result holds for the entire sequence ϵ .

By the min-max principle, the k^{th} eigenvalue λ^k_ϵ of S_ϵ is defined by

$$\lambda_{\epsilon}^{k} = \min_{(f_{1},\dots,f_{k-1})\in L^{2}(\Omega)} \max_{f\perp\{f_{1},\dots,f_{k-1}\}} \frac{\langle S_{\epsilon}f,f\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}}$$

where \perp denotes orthogonality with respect to the usual scalar product in $L^2(\Omega)$. For any $f \in L^2(\Omega)$, we have

$$\frac{\langle S_{\epsilon}f,f\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}} - \|S_{\epsilon} - S\| \leq \frac{\langle Sf,f\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}} \leq \frac{\langle S_{\epsilon}f,f\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}} + \|S_{\epsilon} - S\|,$$

which implies that

$$\left|\lambda_{\epsilon}^{k} - \lambda^{k}\right| \le ||S_{\epsilon} - S||,$$

thanks to the min-max principle. Thus, the uniform convergence of S_{ϵ} yields the convergence of each individual eigenvalue, labeled by decreasing order. Now, let v_{ϵ}^k be a sequence of normalized eigenvectors corresponding to the eigenvalue λ_{ϵ}^k

$$S_{\epsilon}v_{\epsilon}^{k} = \lambda_{\epsilon}^{k}v_{\epsilon}^{k}$$
 and $||v_{\epsilon}^{k}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1.$

There exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a limit v^k such that the subsequence v^k_{ϵ} converges weakly to v^k in $L^2(\Omega)$. By virtue of Proposition 2.5 the sequence $S_{\epsilon}v^k_{\epsilon}$ converges strongly to Sv^k in $L^2(\Omega)$. Since λ^k_{ϵ} converges to λ^k , it implies that v^k_{ϵ} converges strongly to v^k in $L^2(\Omega)$ and that v^k is also a normalized eigenvector corresponding to the eigenvalue λ^k . If the normalizing condition implies the uniqueness of the eigenvector v^k (up to a change of sign), then the entire sequence of eigenvectors v^k_{ϵ} converges to v^k . But, in case of a multiple eigenvalue λ^k , the convergence of v^k_{ϵ} to v^k holds merely for a subsequence.

In the course of the proof of Theorem 2.2, we have proved the following Lemma.

tome 77 – 1998 – n° 2

LEMMA 2.6. – Let S_{ϵ} be a sequence of compact self-adjoint operators acting in $L^{2}(\Omega)$ and denote their spectrum by $\sigma(S_{\epsilon})$. Assume that the sequence S_{ϵ} converges uniformly to a compact limit operator S with spectrum $\sigma(S)$. Then,

(9)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(S_{\epsilon}) = \sigma(S).$$

REMARK 2.7. – The spectral convergence (20) has to be understood in the sense of Kuratowsky (or Γ -) convergence for subsets of \mathbb{R} (see e.g. [20]). Namely, $\sigma(S)$ is the set of all accumulation points λ of sequences $\lambda_{\epsilon} \in \sigma(S_{\epsilon})$ when ϵ goes to zero.

An interesting question is how can one relax the assumption of uniform convergence of S_{ϵ} to S and still obtain a result similar to (9)? In particular, if the sequence S_{ϵ} converges merely pointwise to S, in the strong or weak topology of $L^{2}(\Omega)$, what is the limit of the spectrum $\sigma(S_{\epsilon})$? Remark first that, in such a case, the limit operator S needs not to be compact. In the case of strong convergence, it turns out that the spectrum of the limit operator is included in the limit spectrum but the inclusion may be strict. In other words, for a strong convergence of operators the spectrum is merely lower semi-continuous. No such result is available for a weak convergence of operators, which is therefore a useless notion concerning spectral convergence.

LEMMA 2.8. – Let S_{ϵ} be a sequence of compact self-adjoint operators acting in $L^{2}(\Omega)$ with spectrum $\sigma(S_{\epsilon})$. Assume that the sequence S_{ϵ} converges strongly to a self-adjoint limit operator S (not necessarily compact) with spectrum $\sigma(S)$ (i.e. for each $f \in L^{2}(\Omega)$, $S_{\epsilon}f$ converges strongly to Sf in $L^{2}(\Omega)$). Then,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(S_{\epsilon}) \supset \sigma(S).$$

Furthermore, denoting by $(\lambda_{\epsilon}, f_{\epsilon})$ a sequence of eigenvalues and eigenvectors of S_{ϵ} such that

$$S_{\epsilon}f_{\epsilon} = \lambda_{\epsilon}f_{\epsilon}, \quad \|f_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1, \quad \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \lambda_{\epsilon} = \lambda,$$

if λ does not belong to $\sigma(S)$, then the sequence f_{ϵ} converges weakly to 0 in $L^{2}(\Omega)$.

Proof. – Let $\lambda \in \sigma(S)$, and assume that λ is not the limit of any sequence of eigenvalues of S_{ϵ} . This means that there exists a positive constant $\delta > 0$, such that, for sufficiently small ϵ , and for any eigenvalue $\lambda_{\epsilon} \in \sigma(S_{\epsilon})$, one has

$$|\lambda_{\epsilon} - \lambda| \geq \delta.$$

Obviously, this implies that, for any function $f \in L^2(\Omega)$,

(10)
$$||S_{\epsilon}f - \lambda f||_{L^2(\Omega)} \ge \delta ||f||_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

Since the convergence of S_{ϵ} to S is strong, one can pass to the limit in (10) and obtain

$$||Sf - \lambda f||_{L^2(\Omega)} \ge \delta ||f||_{L^2(\Omega)},$$

for any function f, which is a contradiction with the fact that λ belongs to the spectrum of S. Thus, λ is attained as a limit of a sequence $\lambda_{\epsilon} \in \sigma(S_{\epsilon})$.

To complete the proof, it remains to show that, if a sequence of eigenvalues λ_{ϵ} converges to a limit λ outside $\sigma(S)$, then any associated sequence of eigenvectors f_{ϵ} converges to zero weakly in $L^2(\Omega)$. The spectral equation is

(11)
$$S_{\epsilon}f_{\epsilon} = \lambda_{\epsilon}f_{\epsilon}.$$

Multiplying (11) by a test function $\phi \in L^2(\Omega)$, and using the symmetry of S_{ϵ} yields

$$\langle f_{\epsilon}, S_{\epsilon}\phi \rangle = \lambda_{\epsilon} \langle f_{\epsilon}, \phi \rangle.$$

Thanks to the strong convergence of S_{ϵ} , we can pass to the limit (up to a subsequence), and denoting by f the weak limit of a subsequence f_{ϵ} we obtain

$$Sf = \lambda f.$$

Since λ does not belong to $\sigma(S)$, it necessarily implies that the limit f is equal to zero. This is true for any converging subsequence, thus it holds for the entire sequence.

3. Main results

The previous section has investigated the low frequency limit of the spectrum σ_{ϵ} defined by (3). Theorem 2.2 has given a complete characterization of $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma_{\epsilon}$. However, it says nothing on the high frequency limit which is concerned with sequences of eigenvalues λ_{ϵ} which go to 0. We now focus on this latter case and try to characterize the renormalized limits $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} a_{\epsilon}^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}$ where a_{ϵ} is a sequence of scales which goes to 0 with ϵ . In other words we are looking to eigenfrequencies $\omega_{\epsilon} = \lambda_{\epsilon}^{-1/2}$ which are of the order of a_{ϵ}^{-1} .

Let us first consider eigenvalues λ_{ϵ} of the order of ϵ^2 , which corresponds to a critical case. To study the renormalized limit $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}$, we introduce a family of limit operators $S_{x,\theta}$ indexed by the macroscopic variable $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ and by the Bloch frequency variable $\theta \in [0,1]^N$. Each operator $S_{x,\theta}$ is defined by:

(12)
$$\begin{cases} S_{x,\theta} : L^2_{\#}(Y) & \longrightarrow & L^2_{\#}(Y) \\ \phi & \longrightarrow & u_0, \end{cases}$$

where u_0 is the unique solution in $H^1_{\#}(Y)$ of

(13)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_y \left[A(x,y) \nabla_y \left(u_0(y) e^{2\pi i \theta \cdot y} \right) \right] = \phi(y) e^{2\pi i \theta \cdot y} \text{ in } Y, \\ u_0(y) Y \text{ -periodic.} \end{cases}$$

Throughout this paper, the subscript # indicates a space of periodic functions. In the case $\theta = 0$, equation (13) makes sense if $S_{x,0}$ is restricted to the subspace of zero-average functions in $L^2_{\#}(Y)$. Each $S_{x,\theta}$ is a self-adjoint compact operator in $\mathcal{L}(L^2_{\#}(Y))$ with spectrum

$$\sigma(S_{x,\theta}) = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \{\lambda^k(x,\theta)\}$$

with $\lambda^1(x,\theta) \ge \lambda^2(x,\theta) \ge \cdots \ge \lambda^k(x,\theta) \ge \cdots \to 0.$

tome 77 - 1998 - n° 2

Using the min-max principle and the continuity with respect to x of the matrix A(x, y), it is easy to prove (*see* Proposition 4.12) that each eigenvalue $\lambda^k(x, \theta)$ is a continuous function of $(x, \theta) \in \overline{\Omega} \times Y$. This allows to define the so-called Bloch spectrum σ_{Bloch} as the union of all spectra $\sigma(S_{x,\theta})$

$$\sigma_{\text{Bloch}} = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \left[\min_{(x,\theta) \in \overline{\Omega} \times Y} \lambda^k(x,\theta), \max_{(x,\theta) \in \overline{\Omega} \times Y} \lambda^k(x,\theta) \right].$$

Remark that the Bloch spectrum has a band structure. It could turn out that these bands $(i.e., \text{ each interval } [\min_{(x,\theta)} \lambda^k(x,\theta), \max_{(x,\theta)} \lambda^k(x,\theta)])$ do overlap. This is the case, for example, when the matrix A(x, y) does not depend on y. However, it is known for some explicit examples that the gaps between bands are not empty (see [21]). A similar situation arises in the context of Schrödinger equation (see e.g. [41]). The problem of finding conditions on the matrix A(x, y) for the bands to overlap or not is very difficult and not addressed here.

We need also to define a so-called *boundary layer spectrum* σ_{boundary} . Let us consider a sequence of eigenvalues and eigenvectors $(\lambda_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ solution of the spectral equation (1). Assume that for a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , there exists a limit λ such that:

(14)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \lambda_{\epsilon} = \lambda, \quad \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1.$$

Then, the limit eigenvalue λ is said to belong to the boundary layer spectrum if, for any positive integer $n \ge 1$, there exists a positive constant C(n) > 0 such that

(15)
$$\|v_{\epsilon}d(x,\partial\Omega)^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|(\nabla v_{\epsilon})d(x,\partial\Omega)^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C(n)\epsilon^n,$$

where $d(x, \partial \Omega)$ is the distance function to the boundary. In other words, the boundary layer spectrum is defined by

(16)
$$\sigma_{\text{boundary}} = \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+ \mid \exists (\lambda_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}) \text{ solutions of (1) satisfying (14), (15)} \}.$$

Physically speaking, the boundary layer spectrum corresponds to sequences of eigenvectors concentrating near the boundary. Remark that, compared to the Bloch spectrum, the definition of the boundary layer spectrum is not explicit. It may even depend on the choice of the sequence ϵ (on the contrary of the definition of σ_{Bloch}).

Our main result (announced in [4], [5]) is:

THEOREM 3.1. – The renormalized limit spectrum is exactly equal to the Bloch and the boundary layer spectra

(17)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon} = \sigma_{\text{boundary}} \cup \sigma_{\text{Bloch}}.$$

The statement of Theorem (3.1) is somehow weak since it concerns only eigenvalues. However, its proof, which covers sections 4 and 5, gives much more informations. In particular, we exhibit a family of limit operators to which different extensions of the original operator S_{ϵ} converge strongly in some suitable topology. Then, by Rellich theorem we deduce also a strong convergence of the spectral families which can be interpreted as an "averaged" convergence for the eigenvectors (*see* the original paper [42] or modern textbooks as [28], or [43]). A key feature of Theorem 3.1 is that its proof does not use any labeling of the eigenvalues which is consistent with the obtained densification of the spectrum in the limit as ϵ goes to 0. In a different context (Schrödinger equation in the whole space \mathbb{R}^N) related results have been obtained in [25] by a completly different method. In Theorem 3.1, the scaling ϵ^2 of the eigenvalues λ_{ϵ} can be interpreted as a critical size. Indeed, for any other scaling, we find a simpler result since there is no interaction between the period size ϵ and the frequency size a_{ϵ} .

THEOREM 3.2. – Let a_{ϵ} be a sequence in \mathbb{R}^+ which goes to 0 with ϵ and such that, either

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-1} a_{\epsilon} = 0,$$

or

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-1} a_{\epsilon} = +\infty,$$

then, we have:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} (a_{\epsilon})^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon} = \mathbb{R}^+.$$

REMARK 3.3. – The spectral convergence in Theorems 3.1 and 3.2 has to be understood in the sense of Kuratowsky (or Γ -) convergence for subsets of \mathbb{R} (see e.g. [20]). Namely, the limit is the set of all accumulation points λ of renormalized sequences $a_{\epsilon}^{-2}\lambda_{\epsilon}$, as ϵ goes to zero, with $\lambda_{\epsilon} \in \sigma_{\epsilon}$.

The proof of Theorem 3.2 is given in section 6. Theorem 3.2 is consistent with Weyl's asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues for the Laplacian. Indeed, if there were no periodic heterogeneities (*i.e.* if the matrix A(x, y) is constant), then Weyl's result would imply that the renormalized limit of the spectrum is always the entire positive half line.

Theorem 3.1 leaves open the question of how characterizing explicitly the boundary layer spectrum. Indeed, our definition of σ_{boundary} is not very enlightening, because it does not characterize this part of the limit of $\epsilon^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon}$ as the spectrum of an operator associated with the boundary $\partial\Omega$ of Ω . In particular, it does not say whether σ_{boundary} is empty or included in σ_{Bloch} . There is a subtle point here: the definition of σ_{boundary} depends on the choice of the sequence ϵ . A striking result has recently been obtained by Castro and Zuazua [14] when the sequence ϵ takes all real values close to 0.

THEOREM 3.4. – Let ϵ be the sequence of all real numbers in the interval $(0, \epsilon_0)$ with $\epsilon_0 > 0$. Then,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon} = \mathbb{R}^+,$$

which means that the boundary layer spectrum σ_{boundary} must necessarily fill the gaps of the Bloch spectrum σ_{Bloch} .

In Theorem 3.4 it is crucial that the sequence ϵ takes all possible values near 0 (*see* its proof in [14]). On the contrary, for a special choice of polygonal domains Ω and discrete (countable) sequences ϵ , we obtain in section 7 a complete characterization of σ_{boundary}

томе 77 – 1998 – N° 2

which may not fill any longer the gaps of σ_{Bloch} . However, the general case is still open. Let us assume from now on that Ω is a rectangle with integer dimensions

(18)
$$\Omega = \prod_{i=1}^{N}]0; L_i[\text{ and } L_i \in \mathbb{N}^*$$

and that the sequence ϵ is exactly

(19)
$$\epsilon_n = \frac{1}{n}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

These assumptions imply that, for any ϵ_n , the domain Ω is the union of a finite number of *entire* cells of size ϵ_n . Let Σ be the face of Ω in the plane $x_N = 0$. A generic point x in \mathbb{R}^N is denoted by $x = (x', x_N)$ with $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ and $x_N \in \mathbb{R}$. To define the part of the boundary layer spectrum associated to Σ , we introduce a new periodicity cell which is the semi-infinite band

$$G = Y' \times]0; +\infty[,$$

where $Y' =]0, 1[^{N-1}$ is the unit cell in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} . In $L^2_{\#}(G)$, we define a new family of "boundary layer" limit operators $S_{x',\theta'}$ indexed by the macroscopic variable $x' \in \overline{\Sigma}$ and by the reduced Bloch frequency variable $\theta' \in [0,1]^{N-1}$. Here, $L^2_{\#}(G)$ denotes the space of squared integrable functions in G which are merely Y'-periodic with respect to y' (and not y_N). Each operator $S_{x',\theta'}$ is defined by:

$$\begin{cases} S_{x',\theta'} : L^2_{\#}(G) & \longrightarrow & L^2_{\#}(G) \\ \phi & \longrightarrow & u_0, \end{cases}$$

where u_0 is the unique solution of:

(20)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y} \Big[A((x',0),y) \nabla_{y} \Big(u_{0}(y) e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} \Big) \Big] = \phi(y) e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} & \text{in } G, \\ u_{0}(y',0) = 0 \\ \lim_{y_{N} \to +\infty} u_{0}(y',y_{N}) = 0 \\ y' \to u_{0}(y',y_{N}) Y' \text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

If $\theta' \neq 0$, $S_{x',\theta'}$ is well defined, as an operator acting in $L^2_{\#}(G)$, by (20) (remark that the limit behavior of u_0 as y_N goes to infinity has to be understood in the L^2 sense). However, for $\theta' = 0$ it is necessary to shift the spectrum of $S_{x',\theta'}$ by adding a zero-order term in (20) so as to avoid technical difficulties in defining $S_{x',\theta'}$ acting in $L^2_{\#}(G)$. In any case, $S_{x',\theta'}$ is a self-adjoint *non-compact* operator, and its spectrum $\sigma(S_{x',\theta'})$ is not any longer discrete, but it depends continuously on (x', θ') . Therefore, we can define the boundary layer spectrum associated to the surface Σ

$$\sigma_{\Sigma} = \bigcup_{x'\in\overline{\Sigma}\,\theta'\in[0,1]^{N-1}} \sigma(S_{x',\theta'}),$$

which has again a band structure. Of course, the definition of σ_{Σ} can be achieved for any face Σ of the rectangle Ω , and a completely similar analysis can be done for all the lower

dimensional manifolds (edges, corners, etc.) of which the boundary $\partial\Omega$ is made up. For each type of manifold, a different family of limit problems arise which are straightforward generalizations of (20). For example, in two space dimensions, the corners of Ω give rise to a limit problem in the quarter of space $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+$ (see subsection 7.3). Finally, our last main result is:

THEOREM 3.5. – Under assumptions (18) and (19), the renormalized limit of the sequence of spectra $\epsilon_n^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon_n}$ is precisely given by

$$\lim_{\epsilon_n \to 0} \epsilon_n^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon_n} = \sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \cup \sigma_{\partial \Omega},$$

with the notation

$$\sigma_{\partial\Omega} = \bigcup_{\Sigma \subset \partial\Omega} \sigma_{\Sigma}$$

where the union is over all hypersurfaces and lower dimensional manifolds composing the boundary $\partial \Omega$.

Theorems 3.1 and 3.5 are proved in section 7. The difference between Theorem 3.1 and Theorem 3.5 is that the latter boundary layer spectrum $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ is explicitly defined for the specific sequence of parameters ϵ_n as the spectrum of a family of limit operators, while the first of these boundary layer spectra, σ_{boundary} was indirectly defined for any sequence ϵ but not explicitly characterized. Remark also that we do not prove that $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ and σ_{boundary} coincide, but merely that $\sigma_{\text{boundary}} \subset \sigma_{\partial\Omega}$. We believe that the inclusion is usually strict, even if a more precise definition of σ_{boundary} is used.

4. Bloch wave homogenization

This section is devoted to the first part of the proof of Theorem 3.1. By means of a new method of homogenization, called homogenization by Bloch waves, we shall prove that

$$\sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}.$$

This convergence result holds for any choice of the sequence ϵ . To analyze the behavior of eigenvalues of the order of ϵ^2 , the spectral problem (1) is rewritten as follows: find $(\mu_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times H_0^1(\Omega), v_{\epsilon} \neq 0$, such that:

(21)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} \left[A(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla v_{\epsilon} \right] + v_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} v_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ v_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Passing from (1) to (21) leaves invariant the eigenfunctions and change the eigenvalues λ_{ϵ}^{k} into μ_{ϵ}^{k} (labeled in decreasing order) defined by

(22)
$$\mu_{\epsilon}^{k} = \lambda_{\epsilon}^{k} / (\epsilon^{2} + \lambda_{\epsilon}^{k}).$$

This has the effect that $\mu_{\epsilon}^k \sim 1$ if $\lambda_{\epsilon}^k \sim \epsilon^2$.

tome $77 - 1998 - N^{\circ} 2$

To (21) is associated a new operator $\tilde{S}_{\epsilon} \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$ defined by:

(23)
$$\begin{cases} \tilde{S}_{\epsilon} : L^{2}(\Omega) & \longrightarrow & L^{2}(\Omega) \\ f & \longrightarrow & u_{\epsilon}, \end{cases}$$

where u_{ϵ} is the unique solution in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ of:

(24)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} \left[A(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla u_{\epsilon} \right] + u_{\epsilon} = f & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Of course, for fixed ϵ , \tilde{S}_{ϵ} is still a self-adjoint compact operator. We denote by $\sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon})$ its spectrum made of a countable sequence of eigenvalues converging to 0, plus the limit point 0,

$$\sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}) = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \{\mu_{\epsilon}^k\} \quad \text{with} \quad \mu_{\epsilon}^1 \ge \mu_{\epsilon}^2 \ge \cdots \ge \mu_{\epsilon}^k \ge \cdots \to 0.$$

REMARK 4.1. – It is an easy exercise in homogenization to show that the solution u_{ϵ} of (24) has a tendency to periodically oscillate like $u_0\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$ when ϵ is small, and therefore it converges merely weakly in $L^2(\Omega)$. Furthermore, its weak limit is easily shown to be nothing else than f. This implies that \tilde{S}_{ϵ} converges weakly to the identity operator in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$. In terms of spectral convergence, we cannot deduce anything from this weak convergence. In any case, the limit operator (the identity) does not contain much information left from the sequence \tilde{S}_{ϵ} .

Since the solution u_{ϵ} of (24) behaves like an oscillating function $u_0\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$, the key idea in order to obtain a strong convergence of the sequence \tilde{S}_{ϵ} is to extend it to a larger space of "two-scale oscillating" functions, capable of describing this oscillating behavior. In other words, we first embed $L^2(\Omega)$ in the larger space $L^2(\Omega \times Y)$ of functions $\phi(x, y)$ of two variables $x \in \Omega$ (the slow variable) and $y \in Y = [0,1]^N$ (the fast periodic variable). For reasons that will be clear afterwards (mainly because of the Bloch waves decomposition), we actually extend the operator \tilde{S}_{ϵ} to the space $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$ where $K \ge 1$ is a given positive integer, and KY denotes the cube $[0, K]^N$. In other words, we use two-scale oscillating functions on a larger period KY. More precisely, we define an extended operator $S_{\epsilon}^K \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY)))$ by

$$S_{\epsilon}^{K} = E_{\epsilon}^{K} \tilde{S}_{\epsilon} P_{\epsilon}^{K},$$

where P_{ϵ}^{K} and E_{ϵ}^{K} are respectively a projection from $L^{2}(\Omega; L_{\#}^{2}(KY))$ onto $L^{2}(\Omega)$ and an extension from $L^{2}(\Omega)$ into $L^{2}(\Omega; L_{\#}^{2}(KY))$. To be sure that S_{ϵ}^{K} is still self-adjoint, we ask P_{ϵ}^{K} and E_{ϵ}^{K} to be adjoint one from the other. To insure that \tilde{S}_{ϵ} and S_{ϵ}^{K} have the same spectrum, we ask the product $P_{\epsilon}^{K}E_{\epsilon}^{K}$ to be equal to the identity in $L^{2}(\Omega)$. The Hilbert space $L^{2}(\Omega; L_{\#}^{2}(KY))$ is equipped with the scalar product

$$\langle \phi,\psi\rangle = K^{-N} \int_\Omega \int_{KY} \phi(x,y) \psi(x,y) dx dy.$$

To build such extension and projection operators, we introduce a regular mesh of size $K\epsilon$ on the domain Ω : let $(Y_i^{\epsilon})_{1 \le i \le n(\epsilon)}$ be a family of non-overlapping cells of the type $[0; K\epsilon]^N$ covering Ω (the number of cells is $n(\epsilon)$ which is of the order of $(K\epsilon)^{-N}|\Omega|$). We denote by x_i^{ϵ} the origin of each cell Y_i^{ϵ} and by $\chi_i^{\epsilon}(x)$ its characteristic function. Defining a projection operator by

(25)
$$\begin{cases} P_{\epsilon}^{K} : L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY)) & \longrightarrow & L^{2}(\Omega) \\ \phi(x, y) & \longmapsto & \sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \chi_{i}^{\epsilon}(x) \frac{1}{(K\epsilon)^{N}} \int_{Y_{i}^{\epsilon}} \phi(x', \frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx', \end{cases}$$

and an extension operator by

(26)
$$\begin{cases} E_{\epsilon}^{K} : L^{2}(\Omega) & \longrightarrow & L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY)) \\ f(x) & \longmapsto & \sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \chi_{i}^{\epsilon}(x) f(x_{i}^{\epsilon} + \epsilon y), \end{cases}$$

their announced properties are checked in the following:

LEMMA 4.2. – The operators P_{ϵ}^{K} and E_{ϵ}^{K} defined by (25) and (26) satisfy

 $P_{\epsilon}^{K}E_{\epsilon}^{K} = \mathrm{Id}_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \quad and \quad \left(P_{\epsilon}^{K}\right)^{*} = E_{\epsilon}^{K}.$

Furthermore, the product $E_{\epsilon}^{K} P_{\epsilon}^{K}$ converges strongly to the identity in the space $\mathcal{L}(L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY)))$.

REMARK 4.3. – At first look, the most natural projection operator from the space $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$ onto $L^2(\Omega)$ seems to be the application that maps $\phi\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$ to any function $\phi(x, y)$. Unfortunately, this is not a continuous operator. There is even no guaranty that $\phi\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$ is measurable on Ω for a general ϕ . This explains the complicated definition of the projection operator P^K_{ϵ} which is as close as possible to this idea, while having good functional properties.

Proof. – A simple computation yields that $P_{\epsilon}^{K} E_{\epsilon}^{K} = \mathrm{Id}_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$. Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} \phi(x,y) (E_{\epsilon}^{K}f)(x,y) dx dy &= \sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \int_{Y_{i}^{\epsilon}} \int_{KY} \phi(x,y) f(x_{i}^{\epsilon} + \epsilon y) dx dy \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \int_{KY} f(x_{i}^{\epsilon} + \epsilon y) \int_{Y_{i}^{\epsilon}} \phi(x',y) dx' dy = \frac{1}{\epsilon^{N}} \sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \int_{Y_{i}^{\epsilon}} f(x) \int_{Y_{i}^{\epsilon}} \phi(x',\frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx' dx \\ &= K^{N} \int_{\Omega} f(x) \Big(\sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \chi_{i}^{\epsilon}(x) \frac{1}{(K\epsilon)^{N}} \int_{Y_{i}^{\epsilon}} \phi(x',\frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx' \Big) dx = K^{N} \int_{\Omega} f(x) P_{\epsilon}^{K} \phi(x) dx, \end{split}$$

which proves $(P_{\epsilon}^{K})^{*} = E_{\epsilon}^{K}$. A similar computation shows that

$$\left(E_{\epsilon}^{K}P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi\right)(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \chi_{i}^{\epsilon}(x) \frac{1}{(K\epsilon)^{N}} \int_{Y_{i}^{\epsilon}} \phi(x',y) dx',$$

tome $77 - 1998 - n^{\circ} 2$

i.e., $E_{\epsilon}^{K} P_{\epsilon}^{K}$ is the projection operator in $L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))$ on piecewise constant functions in x in each cell Y_{i}^{ϵ} . As is well-known, such a projection $E_{\epsilon}^{K} P_{\epsilon}^{K}$ converges strongly to the identity.

PROPOSITION 4.4. – The sequence S_{ϵ}^{K} converges strongly to a self-adjoint limit operator S^{K} in the sense that, for any $\phi(x, y) \in L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))$, $S_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi$ converges strongly to $S^{K}\phi$ in $L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))$ and $S^{K}\phi = u^{K}$ is the unique solution in the space $L^{2}(\Omega; H^{1}_{\#}(KY))$ of

(27)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y} [A(x,y)\nabla_{y} u^{K}] + u^{K} = \phi \quad in \quad \Omega \times KY \\ y \to u^{K}(x,y) \; KY \text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

We shall prove below (see Proposition 4.12) that S^K is a non-compact operator in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$. Therefore, the convergence of S^K_{ϵ} to S^K cannot be uniform since S^K_{ϵ} is compact, but not S^K . Thus, from Proposition 4.4, we can only deduce the lower semi-continuity of the spectrum (see Lemma 2.8).

COROLLARY 4.5. – The spectrum $\sigma(S^K)$ of S^K satisfies

$$\sigma(S^K) \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon})$$

Furthermore, as a consequence of Rellich theorem (see e.g. [42], [28], [43]), for any μ which is not an eigenvalue of S^K , the spectral family $\mathcal{E}^K_{\epsilon}(\mu)$ of S^K_{ϵ} converges strongly to that $\mathcal{E}^K(\mu)$ of S^K in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$.

The key ingredient in the proof of Proposition 4.4 is the notion of two-scale convergence introduced in [2], [36], that we briefly recall in the following

PROPOSITION 4.6.

(1) Let u_{ϵ} be a bounded sequence in $L^{2}(\Omega)$. Then there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a limit $u_{0}(x, y) \in L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))$ such that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges weakly to u_{0} in the sense that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}(x) \phi\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) dx = \frac{1}{|KY|} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} u_0(x, y) \phi(x, y) dx dy$$

for all functions $\phi(x, y) \in L^2(\Omega; C_{\#}(KY))$.

(2) Let u_{ϵ} be a sequence of functions in $L^2(\Omega)$ which two-scale converges weakly to a limit $u_0(x,y) \in L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$. Assume further that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = \frac{1}{|KY|} \|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))}^{2}$$

Then u_{ϵ} is said to two-scale converge strongly to its limit u_0 in the sense that, for any sequence v_{ϵ} which two-scale converges weakly to a limit $v_0(x, y) \in L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$, we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}(x) v_{\epsilon}(x) \phi\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) dx = \frac{1}{|KY|} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} u_0(x, y) v_0(x, y) \phi(x, y) dx dy,$$

for all smooth functions $\phi(x,y) \in C(\overline{\Omega}; C_{\#}(KY))$.

(3) Let u_{ϵ} be a bounded sequence in $L^{2}(\Omega)$ such that $\epsilon \nabla u_{\epsilon}$ is also bounded in $L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}$. Then there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a limit $u_{0}(x,y) \in L^{2}(\Omega; H^{1}_{\#}(KY))$ such that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges to $u_{0}(x,y)$ and $\epsilon \nabla u_{\epsilon}$ two-scale converges to $\nabla_{y}u_{0}(x,y)$.

Another technical Lemma is required before the proof of Proposition 4.4.

Lемма 4.7. –

- (1) Let $\phi(x, y)$ be a function in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$. Then the sequence $(P^K_{\epsilon}\phi)(x)$ two-scale converges strongly to $\phi(x, y)$.
- (2) Let $\phi_{\epsilon}(x, y)$ be a sequence converging weakly to $\phi(x, y)$ in $L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))$. Then the sequence $(P^{K}_{\epsilon}\phi_{\epsilon})(x)$ two-scale converges weakly to $\phi(x, y)$.

Proof. – To prove 2, let $\theta(x, y)$ be a smooth, KY-periodic function. We have:

$$\int_{\Omega} (P_{\epsilon}^{K} \phi^{\epsilon})(x) \theta(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx = \frac{1}{K^{N}} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} \phi^{\epsilon}(x, y) E_{\epsilon}^{K} [\theta(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon})] dx dy$$

Furthermore,

$$E_{\epsilon}^{K}[\theta(x,\frac{x}{\epsilon})] = \theta(x_{i}^{\epsilon} + \epsilon y, y)$$

in each cell Y_i^{ϵ} of the type $[0; K\epsilon]^N$. Here, x_i^{ϵ} is the origin of Y_i^{ϵ} . Since $\theta(x, y)$ is a smooth function, it is easily seen that $E_{\epsilon}^K[\theta(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon})]$ converges strongly to $\theta(x, y)$ in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$, which completes the proof of 2.

To obtain 1, it remains to prove that, for a fixed test function ϕ , $\|P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$ converges to $\frac{1}{K^{N/2}}\|\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times KY)}$. Thanks to Lemma 4.2, we have

$$\|P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = \frac{1}{K^{N}}\int_{\Omega}\int_{KY}(E_{\epsilon}^{K}P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi)\phi dxdy$$

and $E_{\epsilon}^{K}P_{\epsilon}^{K}$ converges strongly to the identity. This proves the desired result.

Proof of Proposition 4.4. – Let $\psi_{\epsilon}(x, y)$ be a sequence converging weakly to $\psi(x, y)$ in $L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))$. For any $\phi \in L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(KY))$, we need to show that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} (S_{\epsilon}^{K} \phi) \psi_{\epsilon} dx dy = \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} (S^{K} \phi) \psi dx dy.$$

By definition of S_{ϵ}^{K} , one has

(28)
$$\frac{1}{K^N} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} (S^K_{\epsilon} \phi) \psi_{\epsilon} dx dy = \int_{\Omega} (\tilde{S}_{\epsilon} P^K_{\epsilon} \phi) ((E^K_{\epsilon})^* \psi_{\epsilon}) dx = \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon} (P^K_{\epsilon} \psi_{\epsilon}) dx,$$

where u_{ϵ} is now the solution of

(29)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} A(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla u_{\epsilon} + u_{\epsilon} = P_{\epsilon}^K[\phi(x, y)] & \text{in } \Omega\\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

томе 77 – 1998 – N° 2

168

By Lemma 4.8 below, u_{ϵ} two-scale converges strongly to the solution u^{K} of (27). By Lemma 4.7, the sequence $P_{\epsilon}^{K}\psi_{\epsilon}$ two-scale converges weakly to ψ . Then, by Proposition 4.6, we can pass to the limit in (28)

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon} (P_{\epsilon}^{K} \psi_{\epsilon}) dx = \frac{1}{K^{N}} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} u^{K} \psi dx dy = \frac{1}{K^{N}} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} (S^{K} \phi) \psi dx dy,$$

which concludes the proof since the map $\phi \to u^K$ is obviously continuous self-adjoint in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(KY))$.

LEMMA 4.8. – The solution u_{ϵ} of (29) two-scale converges to $u^{K}(x,y)$ which is the unique solution in $L^{2}(\Omega; H^{1}_{\#}(KY))$ of

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y} [A(x,y)\nabla_{y} u^{K}] + u^{K} = \phi in \quad \Omega \times KY \\ y \to u^{K}(x,y) \; KY \text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, u_{ϵ} two-scale converges strongly to $u^{K}(x, y)$, i.e.:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = \frac{1}{K^{N/2}} \|u^{K}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times KY)}$$

Proof. – The following *a priori* estimate is easily derived from equation (29):

$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \leq C.$$

Then, there exists a limit $u^{K}(x,y) \in L^{2}(\Omega; H^{1}_{\#}(KY))$, such that, up to a subsequence, u_{ϵ} and $\epsilon \nabla u_{\epsilon}$ two-scale converge respectively to $u^{K}(x,y)$ and $\nabla_{y}u^{K}(x,y)$. Multiplying equation (29) by a test function $\theta(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon})$, where $\theta(x, y)$ is a smooth, KY-periodic function, we pass to the limit and get:

$$\int_{\Omega}\int_{KY}A(x,y)\nabla_{y}u^{K}\nabla_{y}\theta dxdy+\int_{\Omega}\int_{KY}u^{K}\theta dxdy=\int_{\Omega}\int_{KY}\phi\theta dxdy,$$

which is nothing else than the variational formulation of the limit problem which clearly admits a unique solution. The limit u^{K} is therefore unique, and the entire subsequence u_{ϵ} two-scale converges to u^{K} .

Besides, multiplying the equation (29) by u_{ϵ} , we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \epsilon^2 A(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{\epsilon} + \int_{\Omega} |u_{\epsilon}|^2 = \int_{\Omega} P_{\epsilon}^K \phi u_{\epsilon}$$

which, by virtue of Lemma 4.7, converges to

$$\frac{1}{K^N} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} \phi u^K dx dy = \frac{1}{K^N} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} \left[A(x,y) \nabla_y u^K \cdot \nabla_y u^K + |u^K|^2 \right] dx dy.$$

Then, using the lower semi-continuity of the two-scale convergence (see [2]), we conclude that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} |u_{\epsilon}|^2 = \frac{1}{K^N} \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} |u^K|^2 dx dy,$$

which finishes the proof of Lemma 4.8.

To compute the spectrum of $\sigma(S^K)$, we use a discrete Bloch waves decomposition in $L^2_{\#}(KY)$ (see [1], or [10], [12], [22], [23], [37], [41], [49] in the continuous case). This Bloch decomposition allows to diagonalize S^K .

LEMMA 4.9. – For any function $\phi(y) \in L^2_{\#}(KY)$ there exists a unique family $\{\phi_j(y)\} \in L^2_{\#}(Y)^{K^N}$, indexed by a multi-index j whose N components belong to $\{0, \ldots, K-1\}$, such that

(30)
$$\phi(y) = \sum_{0 \le j \le K-1} \phi_j(y) e^{2\pi i \frac{j \cdot y}{K}}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{K^N} \int_{KY} |\phi|^2 dy = \sum_{0 \le j \le K-1} \int_Y |\phi_j|^2 dy.$$

Furthermore, if $\psi(y)$ is another function in $L^2_{\#}(KY)$ with Bloch components $\{\psi_j(y)\} \in L^2_{\#}(Y)^{K^N}$, we have

$$\frac{1}{K^N}\int_{KY}\phi\widetilde{\psi}dy = \sum_{0\leq j\leq K-1}\int_Y\phi_j\overline{\psi}_jdy.$$

This decomposition, denoted by \mathcal{B} , defines a unitary isometry from $L^2_{\#}(KY)$ into $L^2_{\#}(Y)^{K^N}$.

REMARK 4.10. – Even if the function $\phi \in L^2_{\#}(KY)$ is real-valued, its Bloch components $\phi_j \in L^2_{\#}(Y)$ are complex-valued. Therefore, from now on all functions are supposed to be complex-valued. To simplify the exposition, for any functional space we shall use the same notation for its real or complex-valued version.

Proof. – For each multi-index j = 0, ..., K - 1, let us define ϕ_j in $L^2_{\#}(Y)$ by

$$\phi_j(y) = \frac{1}{K^N} \sum_{j'=0}^{K-1} \phi(y+j') e^{-2\pi i \frac{(y+j').j}{K}}.$$

It suffices now to check that (30) holds true with the above definition of ϕ_i :

(31)
$$\frac{1}{K^N} \sum_{j=0}^{K-1} \sum_{j'=0}^{K-1} \phi(y+j') e^{-2\pi i \frac{j',j}{K}} = \sum_{j'=0}^{K-1} \phi(y+j') \left(\frac{1}{K^N} \sum_{j=0}^{K-1} e^{-2\pi i \frac{j',j}{K}}\right).$$

If j' = 0, the expression between brackets in the right hand side of (31) is equal to 1. If $j' \neq 0$, it is equal to 0, thanks to a well-known property of the K-th roots of 1 in the complex plane. This proves (30). Parseval and Plancherel formulae are obtained in a similar fashion.

From Lemma 4.9, we easily deduce the following:

PROPOSITION 4.11. – The operator S^K can be diagonalized as

$$S^{K} = \mathcal{B}^{*}T^{K}\mathcal{B}$$
 with $T^{K} = \operatorname{diag}[(T_{j/K})_{0 \le j \le K-1}]$

томе 77 – 1998 – N° 2

where, for each Bloch frequency $\theta = j/K$, T_{θ} is a self-adjoint non-compact operator defined in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Y)))$ by

(32)
$$\begin{cases} T_{\theta} : L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(Y)) & \longrightarrow & L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(Y)) \\ \phi & \longrightarrow & u \end{cases}$$

where u(x,y) is the unique solution in $L^2(\Omega; H^1_{\#}(Y))$ of

$$-\operatorname{div}_{y}\left[A(x,y)\nabla_{y}\left(ue^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y}\right)\right] + ue^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y} = \phi e^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y} \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times Y.$$

Consequently the spectrum of S^K is

$$\sigma(S^K) = \bigcup_{0 \le j \le K-1} \sigma(T_{\frac{j}{K}})$$

Proof. – To diagonalize S^K , we apply the Bloch wave decomposition to the variational formulation of equation (27) defining S^K . For any $\phi(x, y)$ in $L^2(\Omega \times KY)$, $S^K \phi$ is defined as the solution u(x, y) of

$$\int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} A(x,y) \nabla_y u(x,y) \nabla_y \overline{\psi}(x,y) + \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} u(x,y) \overline{\psi}(x,y) = \int_{\Omega} \int_{KY} \phi(x,y) \overline{\psi}(x,y),$$

where ψ is a test function in $L^2(\Omega; H^1_{\#}(KY))$. Applying the Bloch decomposition operator \mathcal{B} to both u and ψ , we get

$$\mathcal{B}u = \sum_{0 \le j \le K-1} u_{\frac{j}{K}}(x,y) e^{2i\pi \frac{j\cdot y}{K}}, \quad \mathcal{B}\psi = \sum_{0 \le j \le K-1} \psi_{\frac{j}{K}}(x,y) e^{2i\pi \frac{j\cdot y}{K}}$$

and, since A(x, y) is Y-periodic,

(33)
$$\sum_{0 \le j \le K-1} \int_{\Omega} \int_{Y} \left(A(x,y) \nabla_{y} \left(u_{\frac{j}{K}} e^{2\pi i \frac{j}{K} \cdot y} \right) \cdot \nabla_{y} \left(\overline{\psi}_{\frac{j}{K}} e^{-2\pi i \frac{j}{K} \cdot y} \right) + u_{\frac{j}{K}} \overline{\psi}_{\frac{j}{K}} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{0 \le j \le K-1} \int_{\Omega} \int_{Y} \phi_{\frac{j}{K}} \overline{\psi}_{\frac{j}{K}}.$$

For each Bloch frequency $\frac{j}{K}$, (33) is nothing but the variational formulation of the equation defining $T_{\frac{j}{K}}\phi_{\frac{j}{K}}$. Therefore, $\left(T_{\frac{j}{K}}\right)_{0 \le j \le K-1} = \mathcal{B}S^{K}\mathcal{B}^{*}$.

PROPOSITION 4.12. – For any fixed $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ and $\theta \in Y$ we introduce an operator $T_{\theta,x}$ acting on $L^2_{\#}(Y)$, defined by

(34)
$$\begin{cases} T_{\theta,x} : L^2_{\#}(Y) & \longrightarrow & L^2_{\#}(Y) \\ \phi & \longrightarrow & u, \end{cases}$$

where u(y) is the unique solution in $H^1_{\#}(Y)$ of

(35)
$$-\operatorname{div}_{y}\left[A(x,y)\nabla_{y}\left(ue^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y}\right)\right] + ue^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y} = \phi e^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y} \quad in \quad Y.$$

Then $T_{\theta,x}$ is a self-adjoint compact operator and its spectrum is

$$\sigma(T_{\theta,x}) = \{0\} \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \{\mu^k(\theta, x)\},\$$

where each eigenvalue $\mu^k(\theta, x)$ is continuous with respect to $(\theta, x) \in Y \times \overline{\Omega}$. Finally, the operator T_{θ} defined by (32) is non-compact and its spectrum is

$$\sigma(T_{\theta}) = \bigcup_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \sigma(T_{\theta,x}) = \{0\} \bigcup_{k \ge 1} [\min_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \mu^k(\theta, x), \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \mu^k(\theta, x)].$$

REMARK 4.13. – We recognize in the operators $T_{\theta,x}$ a simple transformation of the operators $S_{x,\theta}$ defined by (12) since, due to the change of variables (22), their eigenvalues are related by

(36)
$$\mu^k = \frac{\lambda^k}{(1+\lambda^k)}$$

Proof. – Clearly, each operator $T_{\theta,x}$ is self-adjoint compact. Therefore, its spectrum is discrete, and labeling the eigenvalues in decreasing order it is given by

$$\tilde{\sigma}_{\theta,x} = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \{\mu^k(\theta, x)\}$$

with

$$\mu^1(\theta, x) \ge \mu^2(\theta, x) \ge \cdots \ge \mu^k(\theta, x) \ge \cdots \to 0.$$

Multiplying equation (35) by $e^{-2\pi i\theta \cdot y}$, yields a new definition of $T_{\theta,x}$ which has the effect that both x and θ appear as parameters in the coefficient matrix. More precisely, $u(y) = T_{\theta,x}\phi(y)$ is the unique solution in $H^1_{\#}(Y)$ of

$$\begin{cases} -(\nabla_y - 2i\pi\theta)A(x,y)(\nabla_y + 2i\pi\theta)u(y) + u(y) = \phi(y)\text{in } Y\\ y \to u(y) \text{ } Y\text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

The eigenvalues are then characterized by the min-max formula:

$$\mu^{k}(\theta, x) = \min_{\substack{F \subset L^{2}_{\#}(Y) \\ \dim F = k}} \max_{\substack{u \in F \cap H^{1}_{\#}(Y) \\ \dim F = k}} \frac{\int_{Y} A(x, y) (\nabla_{y} u + 2i\pi\theta u) \cdot (\overline{\nabla_{y} u} + \overline{2}i\pi\theta u) + \int_{Y} |u|^{2}}{\int_{Y} |u|^{2}}$$

This implies that $\mu^k(x,\theta)$ is continuous (and even Lipschitz) as the min-max of continuous functions as remarked by P. Gérard [24]. Here, we have used the assumption that $x \to A(x,y)$ is continuous in $\overline{\Omega}$. To prove that T_{θ} is non-compact and compute its spectrum

$$\sigma(T_{\theta}) = \bigcup_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \sigma(T_{\theta,x}),$$

we use the Weyl criterion. For any eigenvalue μ in $\sigma(T_{\theta,x_0})$, with eigenvector u(y), a sequence u_n of almost eigenvectors for T_{θ} is defined by $u_n(x,y) = \phi_n(x)u(y)$, where

томе 77 – 1998 – N° 2

 $\phi_n(x)$ is a smooth function concentrating at the point x_0 with $\|\phi_n\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$. It is not difficult to check Weyl's criterion which implies that μ belongs to the essential spectrum of T_{θ} .

Conversely, if $\mu \notin \sigma(T_{\theta,x})$ for any $x \in \overline{\Omega}$, we have

$$||(T_{\theta,x} - \mu Id)^{-1}||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2(Y))} \le C < +\infty,$$

which implies, since $\bigcup_{x\in \widetilde{\Omega}} \sigma(T_{\theta,x})$ is a closed set, that

$$\|(T_{\theta} - \mu Id)^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega \times Y))} < +\infty$$

and hence, μ does not belong to the spectrum of T_{θ} .

THEOREM 4.14. – When K goes to $+\infty$, we have:

$$\lim_{K \to +\infty} \sigma(S^K) = \bigcup_{x \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \theta \in Y} \sigma(T_{\theta,x}) = \{0\} \bigcup_{k \ge 1} [\min_{x \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \theta \in Y} \mu^k(\theta, x), \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \theta \in Y} \mu^k(\theta, x)].$$

Since σ_{Bloch} and $\lim_{K \to +\infty} \sigma(S^K)$ are related through the change of variables (36), we deduce that, for any sequence ϵ converging to 0, $\sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}$.

Proof. – Recall that the choice of the integer K is arbitrary, and that we proved

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}) \supset \lim_{K \to \infty} \sigma(S^K) = \bigcup_{0 \le j \le K-1} \sigma(T_{\frac{j}{K}}).$$

Since the spectrum $\sigma(T_{\theta})$ is continuous with respect to θ , letting K go to $+\infty$ yields the desired result.

REMARK 4.15. – Let us indicate that this method of Bloch wave homogenization has already been applied to a different model of fluid-solid structure (see [6]).

5. Completeness

This section is devoted to the proof of the second part of Theorem 3.1. In the previous section we proved that

$$\sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon}.$$

Here, we prove that the difference between the limit renormalized spectrum and the Bloch spectrum is the so-called boundary layer spectrum

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon} = \sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \cup \sigma_{\text{boundary}}.$$

A precise definition of the boundary layer spectrum σ_{boundary} is given below in Definition 5.1.

To characterize the limit of the renormalized spectrum $e^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon}$, we consider a sequence of eigenvalues μ_{ϵ} and eigenvectors $v_{\epsilon} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that, up to a subsequence,

(37)
$$\|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1, \quad \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mu_{\epsilon} = \mu \quad \text{and}$$

(38)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} \left[A(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla v_{\epsilon} \right] + v_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} v_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ v_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

We introduce the distance function to the boundary, denoted by $d(x, \partial \Omega)$, and defined by

$$d(x,\partial\Omega) = \inf_{y\in\partial\Omega} |x-y| \quad \forall x\in\Omega.$$

Assuming that the boundary $\partial \Omega$ is Lipschitz, the distance function $d(x, \partial \Omega)$ belongs to $W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$. We are now in a position to define the boundary layer spectrum.

DEFINITION 5.1. – The boundary layer spectrum σ_{boundary} is defined as the set of all limit eigenvalues μ such that any corresponding sequence of eigenvectors v_{ϵ} satisfying (37) and (38) has also the property that, for any positive integer $n \ge 1$, there exists a positive constant C(n) > 0 and the entire sequence satisfies

(39)
$$\|v_{\epsilon}d(x,\partial\Omega)^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|(\nabla v_{\epsilon})d(x,\partial\Omega)^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C(n)\epsilon^n.$$

In other words,

$$\sigma_{\text{boundary}} = \{ \mu \in \mathbb{R}^+ \mid \exists (\mu_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}) \text{ solutions of (37)-(38) satisfying (39)} \}.$$

Remark that, compared to the Bloch spectrum, the definition of the boundary layer spectrum is not explicit. It may even depend on the choice of the sequence ϵ (on the contrary of σ_{Bloch}). There is also no guarantee that the boundary layer spectrum does not overlap the Bloch spectrum. From (39) we deduce that the sequence v_{ϵ} stays near the boundary $\partial\Omega$ at a maximum distance of the order of ϵ in the sense that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\omega_{\epsilon})} + \epsilon \|(\nabla v_{\epsilon})\|_{L^{2}(\omega_{\epsilon})} \right) = 0,$$

for any sequence of subsets ω_{ϵ} of Ω such that $d(\omega_{\epsilon}, \partial\Omega) >> \epsilon$. We shall say that such sequences of eigenvectors, whose limit eigenvalue belong to σ_{boundary} , decrease exponentially fast away from the boundary in the sense that, by virtue of (39), they decrease faster than any inverse power of the distance function $d(x, \partial\Omega)$.

The main result of this section states that, if the sequence of eigenvectors v_{ϵ} does not concentrate near the boundary, then automatically the limit eigenvalue μ belongs to the Bloch spectrum.

THEOREM 5.2. – Let v_{ϵ} be a sequence of eigenvectors satisfying (37) and (38). If the limit eigenvalue μ does not belong to σ_{boundary} , then it must belong to σ_{Bloch} . Consequently, it implies

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \sigma_{\epsilon} = \sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \cup \sigma_{\text{boundary}}$$

томе 77 - 1998 - N° 2

REMARK 5.3. – Theorem 5.2 gives only a sufficient condition (not necessary) for μ to belong to σ_{Bloch} . There may well be some limit eigenvalues μ which belong to both σ_{Bloch} and σ_{boundary} . We do not know if a more stringent definition of σ_{boundary} could yield an empty intersection between these two limit sets.

Before proving Theorem 5.2, we introduce a definition of so-called "quasi eigenvectors" for the spectral problem (38) and prove several intermediate results.

DEFINITION 5.4. – Let μ_{ϵ} be a sequence of eigenvalues for the spectral problem (38) which converges to a limit eigenvalue μ . A sequence $u_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is said to be a sequence of quasi eigenvectors associated to the eigenvalues μ_{ϵ} if it satisfies

(1) $u_{\epsilon} \equiv 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \Omega$ and $||u_{\epsilon}||_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$,

(2) u_{ϵ} is the solution in the sense of distributions in the whole space \mathbb{R}^{N} of

(40)
$$-\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div}\left[A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)\nabla u_{\epsilon}\right] + u_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}}u_{\epsilon} + r_{\epsilon},$$

where r_{ϵ} is a remainder term which satisfies

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\langle r_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}}{\|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} + \epsilon \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})^{N}}} = 0,$$

for all non-zero sequences $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

REMARK 5.5. – Equation (40) holds in \mathbb{R}^N ; there is no more boundary conditions on $\partial\Omega$. Clearly, Definition 5.4 implies that a sequence of quasi eigenvectors u_{ϵ} satisfies also $\epsilon \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)^N} \leq C$.

Sequences of quasi eigenvectors are easily built from sequences of eigenvectors which do not correspond to a limit eigenvalue $\mu \in \sigma_{\text{boundary}}$.

PROPOSITION 5.6. – Let v_{ϵ} be a sequence of eigenvectors satisfying (37) and (38). Assume that it does not satisfy (39), namely that the limit eigenvalue does not belong to the boundary layer spectrum. Then, there exists a positive integer $n \ge 1$ and a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , such that the sequence

(41)
$$u_{\epsilon} = \frac{v_{\epsilon} d(x, \partial \Omega)^n}{\|v_{\epsilon} d(x, \partial \Omega)^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)}}$$

is a sequence of quasi-eigenvectors in the sense of Definition 5.1.

REMARK 5.7. – We wrongly announced, in our previous note [5], that Proposition 5.6 is an alternative, i.e. that either a limit eigenvalue belongs to σ_{boundary} or there exists an associated sequence of quasi eigenvectors of the type given by (41). Unfortunately, we are unable to prove that, if there exists a sequence of quasi eigenvectors defined by (41), then the limit eigenvalue can not belong to σ_{boundary} .

In several places in the sequel, the following estimate will often be used.

LEMMA 5.8. – Let v_{ϵ} be a sequence of eigenvectors satisfying (37) and (38). For any positive integer $n \ge 1$ there exists a positive constant C(n) > 0 such that:

$$\epsilon \| d(x,\partial\Omega)^n \nabla v_\epsilon \|_{L^2(\Omega)^N} \le C(n) \left[\| v_\epsilon d(x,\partial\Omega)^n \|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon \| v_\epsilon d(x,\partial\Omega)^{n-1} \|_{L^2(\Omega)} \right]$$

Proof. – For simplicity, let us denote by d the function $d(x, \partial\Omega)$ and by A^{ϵ} the matrix $A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$. Multiplying the spectral equation by $v_{\epsilon}d^{2n}$ leads to

(42)
$$\epsilon^2 \int_{\Omega} A^{\epsilon} (d^n \nabla v_{\epsilon}) \cdot (d^n \nabla v_{\epsilon}) = \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} - 1\right) \int_{\Omega} (d^n u_{\epsilon})^2 - 2n\epsilon^2 \int_{\Omega} v_{\epsilon} d^{2n-1} A^{\epsilon} \nabla v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla d.$$

Using the coercivity of A^{ϵ} in the left hand side, and estimating the right hand side, (42) yields

$$\epsilon^2 \|d^n \nabla v_\epsilon\|_{L^2(\Omega)^N}^2 \leq C \Big(\|d^n v_\epsilon\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \epsilon^2 \|d^n \nabla v_\epsilon\|_{L^2(\Omega)^N} \|d^{n-1} v_\epsilon\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \Big).$$

This gives the desired result.

Proof of Proposition 5.6. – If a sequence v_{ϵ} does not satisfy (39), then there exists a positive integer $n \ge 1$ and a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , such that

(43)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^n} \left(\|v_{\epsilon} d^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|(\nabla v_{\epsilon}) d^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)^N} \right) = +\infty,$$

where, as in the previous proof, d denotes the function $d(x, \partial\Omega)$. Let us take the smallest integer n for which (43) holds. Necessarily $n \ge 1$ since $||v_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon ||\nabla v_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}}$ is bounded due to the spectral equation (38). Up to another subsequence, v_{ϵ} satisfies also

(44)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^n} \| v_\epsilon d^n \|_{L^2(\Omega)} = +\infty.$$

Indeed, if it were not the case, $\epsilon^{-n} \| v_{\epsilon} d^n \|_{L^2(\Omega)}$ would be bounded while

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^{n-1}} \| (\nabla v_{\epsilon}) d^n \|_{L^2(\Omega)^N} = +\infty.$$

By application of Lemma 5.8, this would imply that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^{n-1}} \| v_{\epsilon} d^{n-1} \|_{L^2(\Omega)} = +\infty,$$

which is a contradiction with our choice of n being the smallest integer such that (43) holds. Another consequence of such a choice is that for n - 1 there exists a constant C such that

$$\|v_{\epsilon}d^{n-1}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon\|(\nabla v_{\epsilon})d^{n-1}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \leq C\epsilon^{n-1}$$

Let us define

$$u_{\epsilon} = \frac{v_{\epsilon}d^n}{\|v_{\epsilon}d^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)}}$$

томе 77 – 1998 – n° 2

and prove that u_{ϵ} is a sequence of quasi eigenvectors. Defining r_{ϵ} by equation (40), for any sequence of test functions $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $||w_{\epsilon}||_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon ||\nabla w_{\epsilon}||_{L^2(\Omega)^N}$ is bounded uniformly in ϵ , we have

$$\langle r_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \epsilon^{2} \int_{\Omega} A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla w_{\epsilon} + \left(1 - \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}}\right) \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon} w_{\epsilon}.$$

There is no contribution on the boundary $\partial \Omega$ because ∇u_{ϵ} (and not w_{ϵ}) vanishes on $\partial \Omega$ when $n \geq 1$. Using the spectral equation satisfied by v_{ϵ} , an integration by parts yields

$$\begin{split} \langle r_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} &= \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{\|v_{\epsilon} d^{n}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}} \left[\int_{\Omega} A^{\epsilon} \nabla (v_{\epsilon} d^{n}) \cdot \nabla w_{\epsilon} - \int_{\Omega} A^{\epsilon} \nabla v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla (d^{n} w_{\epsilon}) \right] \\ &= \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{\|v_{\epsilon} d^{n}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}} \int_{\Omega} n d^{n-1} A^{\epsilon} \nabla d \cdot (v_{\epsilon} \nabla w_{\epsilon} - w_{\epsilon} \nabla v_{\epsilon}) \\ &\leq C \epsilon \frac{\|v_{\epsilon} d^{n-1}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|d^{n-1} \nabla v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}}}{\|v_{\epsilon} d^{n}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}} \\ &\leq C \frac{\epsilon^{n}}{\|v_{\epsilon} d^{n}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}, \end{split}$$

which, by virtue of (44), goes to 0 with ϵ . Thus u_{ϵ} is a sequence of quasi eigenvectors.

This property of quasi eigenvectors can be localized in the sense that the matrix of coefficients $A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$ can be replaced by a purely periodically oscillating matrix $A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon})$ for some fixed $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$.

PROPOSITION 5.9. – Let u_{ϵ} be a sequence of quasi eigenvectors in the sense of Definition (5.4). Then, there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , a point $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$, and a sequence $\tilde{u}_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of quasi eigenvectors for the matrix $A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon})$, i.e.:

- (1) $\tilde{u}_{\epsilon} \equiv 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \Omega$ and $\|\tilde{u}_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1$,
- (2) \tilde{u}_{ϵ} is the solution in the sense of distributions in the whole space \mathbb{R}^{N} of

(45)
$$-\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div}\left[A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon})\nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon}\right] + \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}}\tilde{u}_{\epsilon} + \tilde{r}_{\epsilon},$$

where \tilde{r}_{ϵ} is a remainder term which satisfies

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\langle \dot{r}_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}}{\|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} + \epsilon \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})^{N}}} = 0$$

for all non-zero sequences $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Proof. – If u_{ϵ} is a sequence of quasi eigenvectors, then there exists a sequence of real numbers α_{ϵ} converging to 0, such that

$$\left| \langle r_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \right| \leq \alpha_{\epsilon} \left(\| w_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \| \nabla w_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \right)$$

for any sequence $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\Omega)$ and with r_{ϵ} defined by equation (40). We introduce an intermediate scale $\beta_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that $\epsilon \ll \beta_{\epsilon} \ll 1$ and β_{ϵ} is an entire multiple of ϵ , *i.e.*

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \beta_{\epsilon} = 0, \quad \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\epsilon}{\beta_{\epsilon}} = 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\beta_{\epsilon}}{\epsilon} = p_{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The domain Ω is covered by a mesh of non-overlapping cubes $(P_i^{\epsilon})_{1 \leq i \leq n(\beta_{\epsilon})}$ of the type $[0, \beta_{\epsilon}]^N$. The number of such cubes is $n(\beta_{\epsilon})$, which is of the order of $\frac{|\Omega|}{\beta_{\epsilon}^N}$. We denote by x_i^{ϵ} the center of each cube P_i^{ϵ} , and by $i(\epsilon)$ the index such that the L^2 -norm of u_{ϵ} is maximum on the cube $P_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}$. For the sake of simplicity, we denote $P_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}$ by P^{ϵ} . In other words,

(46)
$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})} = \max_{1 \le i \le n(\beta_{\epsilon})} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon}_{i})}.$$

Since $\sum_{1 \le i \le n(\beta_{\epsilon})} ||u_{\epsilon}||^2_{L^2(P_{\epsilon}^{\epsilon})} = 1$, we deduce that there exists a positive constant C > 0 such that

(47)
$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})} \ge C\beta_{\epsilon}^{N/2}.$$

Since $x_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}$ runs in the compact set $\overline{\Omega}$, there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a limit point $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$, such that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} x_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon} = x_0.$$

Let us define a smooth function $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \phi \ge 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \\ \phi \equiv 1 & \text{in } [-1/2, +1/2]^N, \\ \phi \equiv 0 & \text{outside } [-1; +1]^N. \end{cases}$$

The quasi eigenvector u_{ϵ} is localized around $x_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}$ by multiplying it by a cut-off function ϕ_{ϵ} defined by

(48)
$$\phi_{\epsilon}(x) = \phi\left(\frac{x - x_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}}{\beta_{\epsilon}}\right).$$

This yields a function \tilde{u}_{ϵ} defined in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ by

$$\tilde{u}_{\epsilon} = \frac{\phi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}}{\|\phi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}}.$$

Let D^{ϵ} be the support of ϕ_{ϵ} . We choose the intermediate scale β_{ϵ} to be

(49)
$$\beta_{\epsilon} = \max\left(\sqrt{\epsilon}, \alpha_{\epsilon}^{1/N}\right).$$

(This implies that $\epsilon \ll \beta_{\epsilon} \ll 1$ and $\alpha_{\epsilon}^{2/N} \ll \beta_{\epsilon}$.) Then, by Lemma 5.10 below, the following estimates hold for u_{ϵ} in D^{ϵ}

(50)
$$||u_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(D^{\epsilon})} \leq C ||u_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})}$$

and

(51)
$$\epsilon \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(D^{\epsilon})^{N}} \leq C \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})}.$$

tome 77 – 1998 – n° 2

To prove that \tilde{u}_{ϵ} is also a sequence of quasi eigenvectors for the matrix $A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$, we define a remainder term \tilde{r}_{ϵ} by

(52)
$$-\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} + \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} + \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}.$$

We check the desired property for \tilde{r}_{ϵ} by multiplying 52) by $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Integrating by parts and using equation (40) satisfied by u_{ϵ} , we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \langle \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{N})} &= \frac{1}{\|\phi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}} \bigg(\epsilon^{2} \int_{\Omega} A^{\epsilon} \nabla (\phi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}) \cdot \nabla w_{\epsilon} dx - \\ &- \epsilon^{2} \int_{\Omega} A^{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla (\phi_{\epsilon} w_{\epsilon}) + \langle r_{\epsilon}, \phi_{\epsilon} w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{N})} \bigg) \\ &= \frac{1}{\|\phi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}} \bigg(\epsilon^{2} \int_{\Omega} A^{\epsilon} \nabla \phi_{\epsilon} \cdot (u_{\epsilon} \nabla w_{\epsilon} - w_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}) dx + \\ &+ \langle r_{\epsilon}, \phi_{\epsilon} w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{N})} \bigg). \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{N})} \right| &\leq \frac{C}{\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})}} \left(\epsilon^{2} \beta_{\epsilon}^{-1} \left(\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(D^{\epsilon})} \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} + \|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(D^{\epsilon})^{N}} \right) \\ &+ \|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(D^{\epsilon})^{N}} + \alpha_{\epsilon} \left(\|\phi_{\epsilon} w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|\nabla(\phi_{\epsilon} w_{\epsilon})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \right) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Using estimates (47), (50), and (51) leads to

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{N})} \right| &\leq C \epsilon \beta_{\epsilon}^{-1} \left(\| w_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \| \nabla w_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \right) \\ &+ C \alpha_{\epsilon} \beta_{\epsilon}^{-N/2} \left(\| w_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \| \nabla w_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

From our choice (49) of β_{ϵ} , we know that both $\alpha_{\epsilon}\beta_{\epsilon}^{-N/2}$ and $\epsilon\beta_{\epsilon}^{-1}$ converge to 0, and we obtain the desired result

(53)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\langle \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}}{\|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}}} = 0.$$

To conclude, let us prove that \tilde{u}_{ϵ} is also a sequence of quasi eigenvectors for the matrix $A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon})$. Defining a remainder term \tilde{r}_{ϵ}^0 by

$$-\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} A\left(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} + \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} + \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}^0;$$

we multiply it by $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with $\|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)^N}$ uniformly bounded

(54)
$$\langle \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}^{0}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle = \langle \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle + \epsilon^{2} \int_{D^{\epsilon}} \left(A\left(x_{0}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) - A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \right) \nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla w_{\epsilon}.$$

The first term in the right hand side of (54) goes to zero in view of (53), while the second term is bounded by

$$\left(\epsilon \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}}\right)\left(\epsilon \|\nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}}\right) \sup_{x \in D^{\epsilon}} \|A(x_{0}, y) - A(x, y)\|_{L^{\infty}_{\#}(Y)^{N^{2}}},$$

which goes to zero with ϵ since the set D^{ϵ} concentrates near x_0 and the matrix A(x, y) is continuous in x with values in $L^{\infty}_{\#}(Y)^{N^2}$.

LEMMA 5.10. – Let P^{ϵ} be the cube of size β_{ϵ} where the L^2 -norm of u_{ϵ} is maximum (see (46)). Let D^{ϵ} be the support of ϕ_{ϵ} (see (48)). If the intermediate scale β_{ϵ} is chosen such that

$$(55) \qquad \qquad \beta_{\epsilon} \ge \alpha_{\epsilon}^{2/N},$$

then there exists a positive constant C > 0 such that:

(56)
$$||u_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(D^{\epsilon})} \leq C ||u_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})}$$

and

(57)
$$\epsilon \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(D^{\epsilon})^{N}} \leq C \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})}.$$

Proof. – Estimate (56) is obvious since P^{ϵ} is included in D^{ϵ} , which is covered by at most 3^N cubes P_i^{ϵ} , and the maximum L^2 -norm is attained on P^{ϵ} . To prove estimate (57) a smooth function $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is introduced such that

$$\begin{cases} \psi \ge 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \\ \psi \equiv 1 & \text{in } [-1, +1]^N, \\ \psi \equiv 0 & \text{outside } [-2; +2]^N. \end{cases}$$

Defining another cut-off function $\psi_{\epsilon}(x) = \psi(\frac{x-x_{i(\epsilon)}}{\beta_{\epsilon}})$ and multiplying equation (40), satisfied by u_{ϵ} , by $\psi_{\epsilon}^2 u_{\epsilon}$, yield

(58)
$$\epsilon^{2} \int_{\Omega} \psi_{\epsilon}^{2} A^{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{\epsilon} = \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} - 1\right) \int_{\Omega} \psi_{\epsilon}^{2} u_{\epsilon}^{2} dx$$
$$- 2\epsilon^{2} \int_{\Omega} A^{\epsilon} (\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}) \cdot (u_{\epsilon} \nabla \psi_{\epsilon}) + \langle r_{\epsilon}, \psi_{\epsilon}^{2} u_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}.$$

Using the coercivity of A^{ϵ} in the left hand side, and estimating the right hand side, (58) leads to:

$$\begin{split} \epsilon^{2} \|\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}}^{2} &\leq C \Big(\epsilon^{2} \|\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \|u_{\epsilon} \nabla \psi_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} + \|\psi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ &\quad + \alpha_{\epsilon} \Big(\|\psi_{\epsilon}^{2} u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|\nabla(\psi_{\epsilon}^{2} u_{\epsilon})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \Big) \Big) \\ &\leq C \Big(\epsilon^{2} \beta_{\epsilon}^{-1} \|\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})} + \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})}^{2} \\ &\quad + \alpha_{\epsilon} \Big(\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})} + \epsilon \beta_{\epsilon}^{-1} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})} + \epsilon \|\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \Big) \Big) \\ &\leq C \Big(\epsilon \|\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \big(\alpha_{\epsilon} + \epsilon \beta_{\epsilon}^{-1} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})} \big) + \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})}^{2} \\ &\quad + \alpha_{\epsilon} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P^{\epsilon})} \big(1 + \epsilon \beta_{\epsilon}^{-1} \big) \Big), \end{split}$$

томе 77 - 1998 - N° 2

since the support of ψ_{ϵ} is covered by a finite number (independent of ϵ) of cubes P_i^{ϵ} and $\|\nabla \psi_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)^N} \leq C\beta_{\epsilon}^{-1}$. On the other hand, (47) and (55) implies that $\alpha_{\epsilon} \leq \beta_{\epsilon}^{N/2} \leq C \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(P^{\epsilon})}$ and $\epsilon\beta_{\epsilon}^{-1}$ goes to zero. Finally, we obtain

$$\epsilon^2 \|\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)^N}^2 \leq C \Big(\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(P^{\epsilon})}^2 + \epsilon \|\psi_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)^N} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(P^{\epsilon})} \Big),$$

from which the desired result (57) is easily deduced.

Proof of Theorem 5.2. – By Propositions 5.6 and 5.9 we already know that, if μ does not belong to σ_{boundary} , then there exist $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ and a subsequence \tilde{u}_{ϵ} of quasi eigenvectors for the matrix $A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon})$. Remark that if the matrix A depends only on y, and not on x, Proposition 5.9 is unnecessary since it is used only to "freeze" the macroscopic variable x. The quasi eigenvectors \tilde{u}_{ϵ} have compact support in $\overline{\Omega}$. Let us define K_{ϵ} as the smallest integer such that the cube $Q_{\epsilon} = [0; \epsilon K_{\epsilon}]^N$ contains Ω (K_{ϵ} is of the order of ϵ^{-1}). Since \tilde{u}_{ϵ} is identically equal to zero outside Ω , it belongs to $H^1_{\#}(Q_{\epsilon})$.

In a first step, we apply the Bloch wave decomposition to \tilde{u}_{ϵ} in the cube Q_{ϵ} . Let j be a multi-index running in $\{0, 1, \ldots, K_{\epsilon} - 1\}^N$. For simplicity, we indicate its range by the notation $0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1$. According to Lemma 4.9 (and its generalization to Sobolev spaces), there exists a unique family $(u_{\epsilon}^i(y))_{0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1}$ of functions in $H^1_{\#}(Y)$ such that

$$ilde{u}_{\epsilon}(x) = \sum_{0 \leq j \leq K_{\epsilon} - 1} u_{\epsilon}^{j}(rac{x}{\epsilon}) e^{2\pi i rac{j \cdot x}{\epsilon K_{\epsilon}}}.$$

By Plancherel theorem,

$$\|\tilde{u}_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(Q_{\epsilon})}^{2} = (\epsilon K_{\epsilon})^{N} \sum_{0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1} \|u_{\epsilon}^{j}\|_{L^{2}(Y)}^{2}$$

and

$$\epsilon^2 \|\nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(Q_{\epsilon})^N}^2 = (\epsilon K_{\epsilon})^N \sum_{0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1} \|\nabla_y u_{\epsilon}^j + 2i\pi \frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}} u_{\epsilon}^j\|_{L^2(Y)^N}^2.$$

Remark that $(\epsilon K_{\epsilon})^N$ is just the volume of the cube Q_{ϵ} and is therefore of order 1. Then, each Bloch component $u_{\epsilon}^j(y)$ is decomposed on the hilbertian basis of $L^2_{\#}(Y)$ made of the eigenfunctions of T_{θ,x_0} defined by (34), with the same Bloch frequency $\theta = j/K_{\epsilon}$. Here, x_0 is precisely the same point in $\overline{\Omega}$ that appear in the purely periodic matrix $A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon})$. We denote by $(\mu^k(\theta), v^k(\theta, y))_{k\geq 1}$ the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of T_{θ,x_0} which satisfy $\|v^k\|_{L^2_{\#}(Y)} = 1$ and

(59)
$$-\operatorname{div}_{y}\left[A(x_{0},y)\nabla_{y}\left(v^{k}e^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y}\right)\right] + v^{k}e^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y} = \frac{1}{\mu^{k}(\theta)}v^{k}e^{2\pi i\theta \cdot y} \quad \text{in } Y.$$

Actually, the eigenvalues and eigenvectors $(\mu^k(\theta), v^k(\theta, y))_{k\geq 1}$ depend also on the point x_0 . For simplicity, we do not state explicitly this dependence. There exist complex coefficients $\{\alpha^k_{\epsilon}(j/K_{\epsilon})\}_{k\geq 1}$ such that

$$u_{\epsilon}^{j}(y) = \sum_{k \ge 1} \alpha_{\epsilon}^{k} \left(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}\right) v^{k} \left(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}, y\right).$$

The orthonormality property of the eigenfunctions implies that

$$\|u_{\epsilon}^{j}\|_{L^{2}(Y)}^{2} = \sum_{k \ge 1} \left|\alpha_{\epsilon}^{k}(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}})\right|^{2}.$$

In a **second step**, we introduce a *modulation* $\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})$ of the sequence of quasi-eigenvectors \tilde{u}_{ϵ} defined by:

$$\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})(x) = \sum_{0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1} \sum_{k \ge 1} \psi^{k} \left(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}\right) \alpha_{\epsilon}^{k} \left(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}\right) v^{k} \left(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) e^{2\pi i \frac{j \cdot x}{\epsilon K_{\epsilon}}},$$

where the functions $\psi^k(\theta)$ are continuous, Y-periodic, and uniformly bounded

$$\sup_{k\geq 1}\|\psi^k\|_{C_\#(Y)}<+\infty$$

It is easily seen that, by definition, the modulation $\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})$ belongs to $H^1_{\#}(Q_{\epsilon})$ and satisfies the same a priori estimates than \tilde{u}_{ϵ}

$$\|\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})\|_{L^{2}(Q_{\epsilon})} + \epsilon \|\nabla \mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})\|_{L^{2}(Q_{\epsilon})^{N}} \leq C.$$

Multiplying the quasi-spectral equation (45) by the conjugate $\overline{\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})}$, leads to

(60)
$$\epsilon^{2} \int_{Q_{\epsilon}} A\left(x_{0}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla \overline{\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})} dx + \left(1 - \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}}\right) \int_{Q_{\epsilon}} \tilde{u}_{\epsilon} \overline{\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})} dx = \left\langle \tilde{r}_{\epsilon}^{0}, \overline{\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})} \right\rangle_{H^{-1}, H_{0}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})},$$

in which the right hand side tends to 0 by virtue of Lemma 5.9. Then, using the orthogonality properties of the Bloch waves and of the eigenfunctions as well as the spectral equation (59), equation (60) becomes

(61)
$$\sum_{0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1} \sum_{k \ge 1} \psi^k(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}) |\alpha_{\epsilon}^k(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}})|^2 \left(\frac{1}{\mu^k(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}})} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}}\right) = o(1),$$

where o(1) tends to zero with ϵ .

In a third step, we define a family $\{\nu_{\epsilon}^{k}(\theta)\}_{k\geq 1}$ of *Bloch measures*, associated to the sequence \tilde{u}_{ϵ} , by

$$\nu_{\epsilon}^{k}(\theta) = (\epsilon K_{\epsilon})^{N} \sum_{0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1} |\alpha_{\epsilon}^{k}(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}})|^{2} \delta_{\theta = \frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}},$$

where $\delta_{\theta=\theta_0}$ denotes the Dirac mass at the frequency θ_0 . Each $\nu_{\epsilon}^k(\theta)$ is a non-negative Radon measure defined in Y. Since \tilde{u}_{ϵ} has a unit norm in $L^2(\Omega)$, the sum of the integrals of these measures is equal to 1

$$\sum_{k\geq 1} \int_Y d\nu_{\epsilon}^k(\theta) = 1.$$

Tome $77 - 1998 - n^{\circ} 2$

182

The sequence of Bloch measures is therefore bounded. Up to a subsequence, there exists a family of limit measures $\{\nu^k(\theta)\}_{k\geq 1}$ such that each ν^k_{ϵ} converges to ν^k in the sense of vague measures. Of course the limit measures are all non-negative. Let us show that they satisfy

(62)
$$\sum_{k\geq 1} \int_{Y} d\nu^{k}(\theta) = 1,$$

which proves that, at least, some of them are not identically zero. Of course, we have

$$0 \le \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_Y d\nu^k(\theta) \le 1.$$

For each fixed k we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_Y d\nu_{\epsilon}^k(\theta) = \int_Y d\nu^k(\theta).$$

If for all $\delta > 0$, there exists a rank k_{δ} such that, for any ϵ ,

$$\sum_{k \ge k_{\delta}} \int_{Y} d\nu_{\epsilon}^{k}(\theta) \le \delta,$$

then we easily deduce (62). Let us assume it is not the case: there exists a positive constant $\delta > 0$, a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a sequence of integers $k(\epsilon)$, going to $+\infty$, such that

$$\sum_{k \ge k(\epsilon)} \int_Y d\nu_{\epsilon}^k(\theta) \ge \delta.$$

Now, recall that

~

$$\epsilon^{2} \|\nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(Q_{\epsilon})^{N}}^{2} = (\epsilon K_{\epsilon})^{N} \sum_{0 \le j \le K_{\epsilon} - 1} \sum_{k \ge 1} \left| \alpha_{\epsilon}^{k}(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}) \right|^{2} \|\nabla v^{k}(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}, y) + 2i\pi \frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}} v^{k}(\frac{j}{K_{\epsilon}}, y)\|_{L^{2}(Y)^{N}}^{2}$$

and, by virtue of (59),

~

$$\|\nabla v^{k}(\theta, y) + 2i\pi\theta v^{k}(\theta, y)\|^{2} \ge C\left(\frac{1}{\mu^{k}(\theta)} - 1\right) \quad \forall k, \forall \theta,$$

where the positive constant C does not depend on k nor θ . We deduce that

$$\epsilon^2 \|\nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(Q_{\epsilon})^N}^2 \ge C\delta \min_{\theta \in Y} \left(\frac{1}{\mu^{k(\epsilon)}(\theta)} - 1\right)$$

which goes to $+\infty$ since for any $\theta \in Y$

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \mu^k(\theta) = 0.$$

This is a contradiction with the fact that $\epsilon \nabla \tilde{u}_{\epsilon}$ is bounded in $L^2(\Omega)^N$. Therefore (62) is proved.

With the help of the Bloch measures, equation (61) can be rewritten

(63)
$$\sum_{k\geq 1} \int_{Y} \psi^{k}(\theta) \left(\frac{1}{\mu^{k}(\theta)} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}}\right) d\nu_{\epsilon}^{k}(\theta) = o(1).$$

Since the test functions ψ^k and the eigenvalues μ^k are continuous in θ , one can pass to the limit in (63)

$$\sum_{k\geq 1} \int_{Y} \psi^{k}(\theta) \left(\frac{1}{\mu^{k}(\theta)} - \frac{1}{\mu} \right) d\nu^{k}(\theta) = 0.$$

Since by virtue of (62) some of the limit measures ν^k are necessarily not zero, there exists at least one energy level k and a frequency θ such that

$$\mu = \mu^k(\theta),$$

which finishes the proof of Theorem 5.2.

REMARK 5.11. – In the proof of Theorem 5.2 we used a sequence of quasi-eigenvectors \tilde{u}_{ϵ} rather than the sequence of true eigenvectors v_{ϵ} . The reason is that, although \tilde{u}_{ϵ} or v_{ϵ} are equal to 0 outside Ω , it is not the case for the modulation $\mathcal{M}(\tilde{u}_{\epsilon})$ or $\mathcal{M}(v_{\epsilon})$. Therefore, multiplying the spectral equation by $\mathcal{M}(v_{\epsilon})$ and integrating by parts would produce a contribution on the boundary $\partial\Omega$ which, unfortunately, cannot be neglected. Such a difficulty does not occur with \tilde{u}_{ϵ} which satisfies an equation in \mathbb{R}^{N} without boundary conditions (see Proposition 5.9).

REMARK 5.12. – We emphasize that the Bloch measure technique allows only to prove that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma_{\epsilon} \subset \sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \cup \sigma_{\text{boundary}}.$$

The reverse inclusion has to be proved independently by the Bloch wave homogenization method. In this sense, these two methods are complementary.

The Bloch measures introduced here play, more or less, the role of semi-classical (or Wigner) measures in the context of Schrödinger equation (see e.g. [24], [31], [32], [47]).

6. Non-critical scalings

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 3.2 concerning the asymptotic behavior of the rescaled spectrum $a_{\epsilon}^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon}$ for a non critical scaling a_{ϵ} , *i.e.* for a sequence of positive numbers a_{ϵ} such that:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} a_{\epsilon} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{cases} \text{either} & \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{a_{\epsilon}}{\epsilon} = 0, \\ \text{or} & \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{a_{\epsilon}}{\epsilon} = +\infty. \end{cases}$$

томе 77 – 1998 – N° 2

To study the eigenvalues λ_{ϵ} of (1) which are of the order of a_{ϵ}^2 , we again modify slightly the spectral equation which becomes

(64)
$$\begin{cases} -a_{\epsilon}^{2}\operatorname{div}\left(A\left(x,\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)\nabla v_{\epsilon}\right) + v_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\gamma_{\epsilon}}v_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \Omega\\ v_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

When labeling the eigenvalues of (1) and (64) in decreasing order, this has the effect of a change of variable for the eigenvalues

$$\gamma_{\epsilon}^{k} = \frac{\lambda_{\epsilon}^{k}}{a_{\epsilon}^{2} + \lambda_{\epsilon}^{k}},$$

while leaving invariant the eigenfunctions v_{ϵ}^k . As in section 4, we introduce an operator $\tilde{S}_{\epsilon} \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$, associated to (64), defined by

(65)
$$\begin{cases} \tilde{S}_{\epsilon} : L^{2}(\Omega) & \longrightarrow & L^{2}(\Omega) \\ f & \longrightarrow & u_{\epsilon}, \end{cases}$$

where u_{ϵ} is the unique solution in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ of

(66)
$$\begin{cases} -a_{\epsilon}^{2} \operatorname{div} \left[A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla u_{\epsilon} \right] + u_{\epsilon} = f \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

The analysis of the sequence of operators \tilde{S}_{ϵ} is similar to that presented in section 4. However, the main difference here is the absence of interaction between the homogenization scale ϵ and the singular perturbation scale a_{ϵ} . Roughly speaking, if ϵ is smaller than a_{ϵ} , then homogenization occurs first and the singular perturbation concerns the homogenized system. On the other hand, if ϵ is larger than a_{ϵ} , then the singular perturbation occurs first at a microscopic scale and homogenization is irrelevant. This yields some technical differences between these two cases. We begin with the largest scales a_{ϵ} .

6.1. Large scales: $\epsilon \ll a_{\epsilon} \ll 1$

As in section 4 we extend the operator \tilde{S}_{ϵ} , originally defined in $L^2(\Omega)$, to a larger space of oscillating functions with period a_{ϵ} . For any positive number $\ell > 0$, let Z be the cube $Z = [0, \ell]^N$. We define an extended operator $S_{\epsilon}^{\ell} \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega \times Z))$ by

(67)
$$S^{\ell}_{\epsilon} = E^{\ell}_{\epsilon} \hat{S}_{\epsilon} P^{\ell}_{\epsilon}$$

where P_{ϵ}^{ℓ} and E_{ϵ}^{ℓ} are respectively a projection from $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z))$ into $L^2(\Omega)$ and an extension from $L^2(\Omega)$ into $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z))$. To insure that S_{ϵ}^{ℓ} is still self-adjoint, we ask P_{ϵ}^{ℓ} and E_{ϵ}^{ℓ} to be adjoint one from the other. To be sure that \tilde{S}_{ϵ} and S_{ϵ}^{ℓ} have the same spectrum, we ask the product $P_{\epsilon}^{\ell} E_{\epsilon}^{\ell}$ to be equal to the identity in $L^2(\Omega)$. Such conditions are satisfied by:

$$\begin{cases} \forall \phi(x,z) \in L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z)), \ (P^{\ell}_{\epsilon}\phi)(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n^{\ell}(\epsilon)} \chi_{Z^{\epsilon}_i}(x) \frac{1}{(\ell a_{\epsilon})^N} \int_{Z^{\epsilon}_i} \phi(x', \frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}}) dx', \\ \forall f(x) \in L^2(\Omega), \ (E^{\ell}_{\epsilon}f)(x,z) = \sum_{i=1}^{n^{\ell}(\epsilon)} \chi_{Z^{\epsilon}_i}(x) f(x^{\epsilon}_i + a_{\epsilon}z), \end{cases}$$

where the family $(Z_i^{\epsilon})_{1 \le i \le n^{\ell}(\epsilon)}$ of non-overlapping cells of the type $[0; \ell a_{\epsilon}]^N$ covers Ω $(\chi_{Z_i^{\epsilon}}$ is the characteristic function of Z_i^{ϵ} and x_i^{ϵ} its origin). As before, S_{ϵ}^{ℓ} is self-adjoint because $(P_{\epsilon}^{\ell})^* = E_{\epsilon}^{\ell}$ and its spectrum is exactly that of \tilde{S}_{ϵ} since $P_{\epsilon}^{\ell} E_{\epsilon}^{\ell} = Id_{L^2(\Omega)}$.

THEOREM 6.1. – The sequence S_{ϵ}^{ℓ} converges strongly to a limit operator S^{ℓ} in the sense that, for any $\phi(x,z) \in L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z))$, $S_{\epsilon}^{\ell}\phi$ converges strongly to $S^{\ell}\phi$ in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z))$, and $S^{\ell}\phi = u^{\ell}$ is the unique solution in $L^2(\Omega; H^1_{\#}(Z))$ of

(68)
$$-\operatorname{div}_{z}\left[A^{*}(x)\nabla_{z}u^{\ell}\right] + u^{\ell} = \phi \quad in \quad \Omega \times Z.$$

Moreover, S^{ℓ} is a self-adjoint non-compact operator in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z))$.

COROLLARY 6.2. – For any choice of the sequence ϵ going to 0, the limit of $(a_{\epsilon})^{-2}\sigma_{\epsilon}$ is the entire positive real axis, or equivalently

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to \infty} \sigma(\hat{S}_{\epsilon}) = \bigcup_{\ell > 0} \sigma(S^{\ell}) = [0, 1]$$

REMARK 6.3. – Corollary 6.2 can be interpreted as a densification of the spectrum of S_{ϵ} upon rescaling at size a_{ϵ}^2 . However, the limit problem (68) is probably not the only one to describe the limiting behavior of the spectrum at this range of frequency.

Proof of Corollary 6.2. – From Theorem 6.1 we deduce that $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(S_{\epsilon}^{\ell}) \supset \sigma(S^{\ell})$. Moreover, for any positive $\ell > 0$, the spectrum $\sigma(S^{\ell})$ is obtained from $\sigma(S^{1})$ by a simple transformation since the coefficient matrix in (6.8) does not depend on z. Labeling in increasing order the eigenvalues $(\gamma_{\ell}^{k})_{k\geq 1}$ of S^{ℓ} , they satisfy

$$\gamma_{\ell}^{k} = \frac{\ell^2 \gamma_1^k}{\ell^2 \gamma_1^k + (1 - \gamma_1^k)}$$

By varying $\ell > 0$ the range of each eigenvalue γ_{ℓ}^k (for $k \ge 2$) is exactly [0, 1]. Since all the eigenvalues of \tilde{S}_{ϵ} lie in [0, 1], this implies the desired result.

In order to prove Theorem 6.1, we have to analyze the asymptotic behavior of the sequence of solutions to problem (66) when $f = P_{\epsilon}^{\ell}[\phi(x,z)]$, where $\phi(x,z)$ is a given function in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z))$. Problem (66) with such a sequence of right hand sides involves three different scales, namely 1, ϵ and a_{ϵ} . Therefore, the classical two-scale convergence is inoperative here, and one has to call for its generalization as described in [3]. We briefly recall the main results of the *multi-scale convergence method* (in our case, we just have three scales).

PROPOSITION 6.4. -

(1) Let v_{ϵ} be a bounded sequence in $L^{2}(\Omega)$. There exist a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a limit $v^{0}(x, z, y) \in L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(Z \times Y))$ such that v_{ϵ} three-scale converges weakly to v^{0} in the following sense

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} v_{\epsilon}(x) \varphi(x, \frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx = \frac{1}{|Z \times Y|} \int_{\Omega} \int_{Z \times Y} v^{0}(x, z, y) \varphi(x, z, y) dx dz dy$$

for all functions $\varphi(x, z, y) \in L^2(\Omega; C_{\#}(Z \times Y)).$

томе 77 – 1998 – n° 2

(2) Let v_{ϵ} be a sequence of functions in $L^2(\Omega)$ which three-scale converges weakly to a limit $v^0(x, y) \in L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z \times Y))$. Assume furthermore that:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = \frac{1}{|Z \times Y|} \|v^{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(Z \times Y))}^{2}.$$

Then v_{ϵ} is said to three-scale converge strongly to v^0 in the sense that, for any sequence w_{ϵ} in $L^2(\Omega)$ which three-scale converges weakly to a limit $w^0(x,y) \in L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Z \times Y))$, we have

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} v_{\epsilon}(x) w_{\epsilon}(x) \varphi(x, \frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{|Z \times Y|} \int_{\Omega} \int_{Z \times Y} v^{0}(x, z, y) w^{0}(x, z, y) \varphi(x, z, y) dx dz dy \end{split}$$

for all smooth functions $\varphi(x, z, y) \in C(\overline{\Omega}; C_{\#}(Z \times Y)).$

(3) Let v_ε be a bounded sequence in L²(Ω) such that a_ε∇u_ε is also bounded in L²(Ω)^N. There exist a subsequence, still denoted by ε, and a limit v⁰(x, z) ∈ L²(Ω; H¹_#(Z)), which is independent of y, such that v_ε three-scale converges to v⁰(x, z). Moreover, there exists v¹(x, z, y) ∈ L²(Ω × Z; H¹_#(Y)) such that a_ε∇u_ε three-scale converges to [∇_zv⁰(x, z) + ∇_yv¹(x, z, y)].

Proof of Theorem 6.1. – Let $\phi(x, z)$ be a function in $L^2(\Omega \times Z)$ and $\theta^{\epsilon}(x, z)$ be a sequence of functions converging weakly to a limit $\theta(x, z)$ in $L^2(\Omega \times Z)$. By definition, we have

$$\langle S^{\ell}_{\epsilon}\phi(x,z), \theta^{\epsilon}(x,z) \rangle = \int_{\Omega} u^{\epsilon}(x) \big(P^{\ell}_{\epsilon}\theta^{\epsilon} \big)(x) dx,$$

where u_{ϵ} is the solution of

(69)
$$\begin{cases} -a_{\epsilon}^{2}\operatorname{div}A\left(x,\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)\nabla u_{\epsilon} + u_{\epsilon} = \left(P_{\epsilon}^{\ell}\phi\right)(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

From Lemma 4.7, we know that $(P_{\epsilon}^{\ell}\theta^{\epsilon})(x)$ two-scale converges to $\theta(x, z)$. From Lemma 6.5 below, $u_{\epsilon}(x)$ two-scale converges strongly to $u^{0}(x, z)$, solution of (70). Thus, defining a limit operator S^{ℓ} by $u^{0} = S^{\ell}\phi$, we obtain

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \langle S^{\ell}_{\epsilon} \phi(x,z), \theta^{\epsilon}(x,z) \rangle = \frac{1}{|Z|} \int_{\Omega} \int_{Z} u^{0}(x,z) \theta(x,z) dx dz = \langle S^{\ell} \phi, \theta \rangle.$$

Therefore, the sequence of operators S^{ℓ}_{ϵ} converges strongly to S^{ℓ} , and as a consequence

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(S^{\ell}_{\epsilon}) \supset \sigma(S^{\ell}).$$

LEMMA 6.5. – Let u_{ϵ} be the solution of problem (69). The sequence $u_{\epsilon}(x)$ two-scale converges strongly to $u^{0}(x, z)$, where u^{0} is the unique solution in the space $L^{2}(\Omega; H^{1}_{\#}(Z))$ of

(70)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{z}[A^{*}(x)\nabla_{z}u^{0}] + u^{0} = \phi \quad \text{in } \Omega \times Z \\ z \to u^{0}(x, z) \text{ Z-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

Proof. – Standard *a priori* estimates on u_{ϵ} are

$$||u_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + a_{\epsilon}||\nabla u_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \leq C.$$

By virtue of Proposition 6.4, there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and two limits $u^0(x,z) \in L^2(\Omega; H^1_{\#}(Z))$ and $v^1(x,z,y) \in L^2(\Omega; H^1_{\#}(Z \times Y))$, such that u_{ϵ} and $a_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon}$ three-scale converge weakly to u^0 and $\nabla_z u^0 + \nabla_y u^1$ respectively. Let us now multiply equation (69) by a test function of the following form

$$\psi\left(x,\frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}}\right) + \frac{\epsilon}{a_{\epsilon}}\psi^{1}\left(x,\frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}},\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$$

where $\psi(x, z)$ and $\psi^1(x, z, y)$ are smooth functions, periodic in z and y. Integrating by parts, and recalling that $a_{\epsilon} \gg \epsilon$, we get

$$\int_{\Omega} A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) a_{\epsilon} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \left[\nabla_{z} \psi + \nabla_{y} \psi^{1}\right] \left(x, \frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) dx$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon} \psi(x, \frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}}) dx = \int_{\Omega} \left(P_{\epsilon}^{\ell} \phi\right)(x) \psi\left(x, \frac{x}{a_{\epsilon}}\right) dx + o(1).$$

Passing to the limit, it becomes:

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \int_{Z \times Y} A(x,y) [\nabla_z u^0 + \nabla_y u^1] \cdot [\nabla_z \psi + \nabla_y \psi^1] dx dy dz \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} \int_{Z \times Y} u^0 \psi dx dy dz = \int_{\Omega} \int_{Z \times Y} \phi(x,z) \psi(x,z) dx dy dz. \end{split}$$

Since u^0 and ϕ are independent of y, the y variable can be eliminated by introducing the solutions of the usual local problems

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_y A(x,y)(\nabla_y w^i(x,y) + e_i) = 0 & \text{in } Y \times \Omega \\ y \mapsto w^i(x,y) \text{ } Y \text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

A simple calculation shows that

$$u^{1}(x,y,z) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\partial u^{0}}{\partial z_{i}}(x,z)w^{i}(x,y).$$

Thus, $u^0(x, z)$ resolves the homogenized problem corresponding to the usual homogenized matrix $A^*(x)$.

To prove that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges strongly to u^0 , we repeat the argument used in the proof of Lemma 4.8. Thanks to Lemma 4.7, applied to the reference cell Z instead of KY, we see that $P_{\epsilon}^{\ell}\phi(x,z)$ two-scale converges strongly to $\phi(x,z)$. Therefore, we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} \left(a_{\epsilon}^2 A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla u_{\epsilon} + u_{\epsilon}^2 \right) dx = \frac{1}{|Z|} \int_{\Omega} \int_{Z} \left(A^*(x) \nabla_z u^0 \cdot \nabla_z u^0 + (u^0)^2 \right) dx dz.$$

Therefore, using the lower semi-continuity of the two-scale convergence (see [2]) we conclude that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges strongly to u^0 .

томе 77 – 1998 – N° 2

6.2. Small scales: $a_{\epsilon} \ll \epsilon$

To study the case of small scales, we keep the definition (65-66) of the operator \tilde{S}_{ϵ} and slightly modify the extension S_{ϵ}^{ℓ} as follows

$$S^{\ell}_{\epsilon} = E^{\ell}_{\epsilon} \tilde{S}_{\epsilon} P^{\ell}_{\epsilon} \ : \ L^{2}(\Omega \times Y \times Z) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega \times Y \times Z),$$

where $Z = [0, \ell]^N$ is the reference cell and P_{ϵ}^{ℓ} is a new projection operator, defined by

$$P^{\ell}_{\epsilon} = P^{(1)}_{\epsilon} P^{(2)}_{\epsilon} \; : \; L^{2}(\Omega \times Y \times Z) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega),$$

where $P_{\epsilon}^{(1)}$ and $P_{\epsilon}^{(2)}$ are respectively a projection operator from $L^2(\Omega \times Y)$ onto $L^2(\Omega)$ and a projection from $L^2(\Omega \times Y \times Z)$ onto $L^2(\Omega \times Y)$. They are defined as follows

$$\forall \phi(x,y) \in L^2(\Omega \times Y), \quad \left(P_{\epsilon}^{(1)}\phi\right)(x) = \frac{1}{\epsilon^N} \int_{Y_i^{\epsilon}} \phi(x',\frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx'$$

in each one of the non-overlapping cells Y_i^{ϵ} of the type $[0;\epsilon]^N$ covering Ω , and

$$\forall \phi(x,y,z) \in L^2(\Omega \times Y \times Z), \quad \Big(P_{\epsilon}^{(2)}\phi\Big)(x,y) = (\frac{\epsilon}{\ell a_{\epsilon}})^N \int_{\tilde{Z}_{\epsilon}^{\epsilon}} \phi(x,y',\frac{\epsilon y}{a_{\epsilon}}) dy'$$

in each one of the non-overlapping cubes Z_i^{ϵ} of the type $[0, \frac{\ell a_{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}]^N$ covering Y.

On the other hand, E_{ϵ}^{ℓ} is an extension operator whose definition is as follows:

$$E^{\ell}_{\epsilon} = E^{(2)}_{\epsilon} E^{(1)}_{\epsilon} : L^{2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega \times Y \times Z),$$

where, $E_{\epsilon}^{(2)}$ and $E_{\epsilon}^{(1)}$ are respectively an extension operator from $L^2(\Omega)$ into $L^2(\Omega \times Y)$ and an extension from $L^2(\Omega \times Y)$ into $L^2(\Omega \times Y \times Z)$. They are defined by:

$$\forall f(x) \in L^2(\Omega), \quad (E_{\epsilon}^{(2)}f)(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n(\epsilon)} \chi_i^{\epsilon}(x) f(x_i^{\epsilon} + \epsilon y),$$

where, as usual, x_i^{ϵ} is the origin of each cell Y_i^{ϵ} and χ_i^{ϵ} is its characteristic function and

$$\forall \phi(x,y) \in L^2(\Omega \times Y), \quad (E_{\epsilon}^{(1)}\phi)(x,y,z) = \sum_{i=1}^{n^{\ell}(\epsilon)} \chi_{Z_i^{\epsilon}}(x)\phi(x_i^{\epsilon} + \epsilon y, y_i^{\epsilon} + \frac{a_{\epsilon}\ell}{\epsilon}z),$$

where y_i^{ϵ} is the origin of each cell Z_i^{ϵ} .

It can be checked that $E_{\epsilon}^{\ell} = (P_{\epsilon}^{\ell})^*$ and $P_{\epsilon}^{\ell}E_{\epsilon}^{\ell} = Id_{L^2(\Omega)}$. Therefore, S_{ϵ}^{ℓ} is also a self-adjoint, compact operator and it has the same spectrum as \tilde{S}_{ϵ} .

THEOREM 6.6. – The sequence of operators S_{ϵ}^{ℓ} converges strongly to a limit S^{ℓ} which is given by

$$\begin{cases} S^\ell: L^2(\Omega \times Y \times Z) & \longrightarrow \ L^2(\Omega \times Y \times Z) \\ \phi(x,y,z) & \longmapsto \ u^0(x,y,z), \end{cases}$$

where $u^0(x, y, z)$ is the unique solution in $L^2(\Omega \times Y; H^1_{\#}(Z))$ of

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_z A(x,y)\nabla_z u^0 + u^0 = \phi \quad in \quad \Omega \times Y \times Z \\ z \longmapsto u^0 \quad Z \text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

Therefore, $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(S^{\ell}_{\epsilon}) \supset \sigma(S^{\ell})$ and furthermore,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}) = \bigcup_{\ell > 0} \sigma(S^{\ell}) = [0, 1].$$

Proof. – The proof is completely analogous to that of Theorem 6.1. It appeals to the same ingredients, and still uses techniques from the three-scale convergence method. In particular, a new technical lemma generalizing Lemma 4.7 is required in order to prove that:

- (1) If $\theta(x, y, z)$ is a given function in $L^2(\Omega; L^2_{\#}(Y \times Z))$, then the sequence $(P^{\ell}_{\epsilon}\theta)(x)$ converges strongly in the sense of three-scale convergence to $\theta(x, y, z)$.
- (2) If $\theta_{\epsilon}(x, y, z)$ is a sequence converging weakly to $\theta(x, y, z)$ in $L^{2}(\Omega; L^{2}_{\#}(Y \times Z))$, then the sequence $(P^{\ell}_{\epsilon}\theta_{\epsilon})(x)$ converges weakly in the sense of three-scale convergence to $\theta(x, y, z)$.

Since these results are quite standard generalizations of their two-scale counterparts, we refer to Lemma 4.7 without further details.

7. Boundary layer spectrum

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 3.5 which characterizes the boundary layer spectrum. We proceed in two steps corresponding to sections 4 and 5 adapted to the special case of σ_{boundary} . In a first subsection, we extend the operators \tilde{S}_{ϵ} to a functional space made of functions which oscillate transversaly to a plane boundary Σ and which decay away from Σ . This extended sequence of operators converges to a new limit operator which captures these sequences of eigenvectors concentrating on Σ . We characterize this limit spectrum σ_{Σ} which may contain new eigenvalues not included in σ_{Bloch} . In a second subsection, we prove a completeness result which states that the boundary layer spectrum σ_{boundary} is precisely contained in the union of all the limit spectra σ_{Σ} corresponding to the different parts Σ that make up the whole boundary $\partial\Omega$. Finally, a third subsection is devoted to a brief generalization of the previous analysis to the case when Σ is a lower-dimensional part of the boundary $\partial\Omega$, namely corners in 2-D.

7.1. Boundary layer homogenization

In this subsection we assume that Ω is a cylindrical bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^N in the sense that there exist Σ , a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} , and L > 0, a positive length, such that

(71)
$$\Omega = \Sigma \times]0; L[.$$

With no loss of generality, we assume that the axis of the cylindrical domain Ω is the N^{th} direction: a generic point $x \in \Omega$ is denoted by $x = (x', x_N)$ with $x' \in \Sigma$ and $x_N \in]0; L[$.

TOME $77 - 1998 - N^{\circ} 2$

The goal of this subsection is to analyze the asymptotic behavior of that part of the spectrum $\sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon})$ which corresponds to eigenvectors concentrating on the boundary $\Sigma \times \{0\}$. At this point, no restrictions are made on the sequence ϵ which goes to zero.

Similarly, we define a semi-infinite band

$$G = Y' \times]0; +\infty[,$$

where $Y' =]0, 1[^{N-1}$ is the unit cell in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} . A generic point y in G is denoted by $y = (y', y_N)$ with $y' \in Y'$ and $y_N \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

Recall that the operator \tilde{S}_{ϵ} is defined by (see (23)):

(72)
$$\begin{cases} \tilde{S}_{\epsilon} : L^{2}(\Omega) & \longrightarrow & L^{2}(\Omega) \\ f & \longrightarrow & u_{\epsilon}, \end{cases}$$

where u_{ϵ} is the unique solution in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ of

(73)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} \left[A(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla u_{\epsilon} \right] + u_{\epsilon} = f & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

As in section 4, we extend the operator \tilde{S}_{ϵ} to a space of two-scale oscillating functions. However, here we choose a space corresponding to boundary layers near $\Sigma \times \{0\}$: $L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(KG))$ where $K \ge 1$ is a given positive integer, and KG denotes the semi-infinite band $[0, K]^{N-1} \times]0; +\infty[$. It is a space of two-scale functions oscillating periodically in y'parallel to Σ , and decaying to 0 as y_N goes to infinity (in the sense of square integrable functions in the semi-infinite band G). More precisely, $L^2_{\#}(G)$ is defined by:

$$L^2_{\#}(G) = \{\phi(y) \in L^2(G) \mid y' \mapsto \phi(y', y_N) \text{ is } Y'\text{-periodic}\}.$$

Similarly, we define $H^1_{0\#}(G)$ as the Sobolev space of all functions in $H^1(G)$ which are Y'-periodic and vanishes for $y_N = 0$

(74)
$$H^1_{0\#}(G) = \{\phi(y) \in H^1(G) \mid y' \mapsto \phi(y', y_N) \text{ is } Y'\text{-periodic, and } \phi(y', 0) = 0\}.$$

An extended operator $B^K_\epsilon \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(\Sigma; L^2_\#(KG)))$ is defined by

(75)
$$B_{\epsilon}^{K} = E_{\epsilon}^{K} \tilde{S}_{\epsilon} P_{\epsilon}^{K},$$

where P_{ϵ}^{K} and E_{ϵ}^{K} are respectively a projection from $L^{2}(\Sigma; L_{\#}^{2}(KG))$ onto $L^{2}(\Omega)$ and an extension from $L^{2}(\Omega)$ into $L^{2}(\Sigma; L_{\#}^{2}(KG))$. To insure that B_{ϵ}^{K} is still self-adjoint, we ask P_{ϵ}^{K} and E_{ϵ}^{K} to be adjoint one from the other. To be sure that \tilde{S}_{ϵ} and B_{ϵ}^{K} have the same spectrum, we ask the product $P_{\epsilon}^{K} E_{\epsilon}^{K}$ to be equal to the identity in $L^{2}(\Omega)$. The Hilbert space $L^{2}(\Sigma; L_{\#}^{2}(KG))$ is equipped with the scalar product

$$\langle \phi, \psi \rangle = \frac{1}{K^{N-1}} \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KG} \phi(x', y) \psi(x', y) dx' dy.$$

To build such extension and projection operators, we introduce a regular mesh of size $K\epsilon$ of the boundary Σ : let $(\Sigma_i^{\epsilon})_{1 \le i \le n'(\epsilon)}$ be a family of non-overlapping cells of the type

 $[0; K\epsilon]^{N-1}$ covering Σ (the number of cells is $n'(\epsilon)$ which is of the order of $\frac{|\Sigma|}{(K\epsilon)^{N-1}}$). We denote by x_i^{ϵ} the origin of each cell Σ_i^{ϵ} , and by $\chi_i^{\epsilon}(x')$ its characteristic function. Defining a projection operator by:

(76)

$$P_{\epsilon}^{K}: L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG)) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega)$$

$$\phi(x', y) \longmapsto \sum_{i=1}^{n'(\epsilon)} \chi_{i}^{\epsilon}(x') \frac{1}{(K\epsilon)^{N-1}} \int_{\Sigma_{i}^{\epsilon}} \phi(z', \frac{x}{\epsilon}) dz',$$

and an extension operator by

(77)
$$E_{\epsilon}^{K}: L^{2}(\Omega) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG))$$
$$f(x) \longmapsto \sum_{i=1}^{n'(\epsilon)} \chi_{i}^{\epsilon}(x') f(x_{i}'^{\epsilon} + \epsilon y', \epsilon y_{N}),$$

their announced properties are checked in the following

LEMMA 7.1. – The operators P_{ϵ}^{K} and E_{ϵ}^{K} defined by (76) and (77) satisfy:

$$\|E_{\epsilon}^{K}f\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG))} \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{\epsilon}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \quad \|P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C\sqrt{\epsilon} \|\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG))}$$

and

$$P_{\epsilon}^{K} E_{\epsilon}^{K} = \mathrm{Id}_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \quad \left(P_{\epsilon}^{K}\right)^{*} = \epsilon E_{\epsilon}^{K}.$$

Furthermore, the product $E_{\epsilon}^{K}P_{\epsilon}^{K}$ converges strongly to the identity in the space $\mathcal{L}(L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG)))$.

Proof. – The proof of lemma (7.1) is very similar to that of Lemma 4.2. Therefore, we simply sketch the derivation of the estimate for $P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi$ (that for $E_{\epsilon}^{K}f$ is parallel). By definition of the mesh $(\Sigma_{i}^{\epsilon})_{1\leq i\leq n'(\epsilon)}$, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi|^{2} dx = \sum_{i=1}^{n'(\epsilon)} \int_{\Sigma_{i}^{\epsilon} \times]0, L[} |P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi|^{2} dx.$$

Since by Cauchy-Schwartz inequality in Σ_i^{ϵ}

$$|P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi|^{2} \leq \frac{1}{(K\epsilon)^{N-1}} \int_{\Sigma_{i}^{\epsilon}} |\phi\left(z', \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)|^{2} dz',$$

we deduce

$$\int_{\Omega} |P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi|^{2} dx \leq \frac{1}{(K\epsilon)^{N-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{n'(\epsilon)} \int_{\Sigma_{i}^{\epsilon}} \int_{\Sigma_{i}^{\epsilon} \times]0, L[} |\phi\left(z', \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)|^{2} dx dz'.$$

tome 77 – 1998 – n° 2

By the change of variables $y = \frac{x}{\epsilon}$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} |P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi|^{2} dx &\leq C\epsilon \sum_{i=1}^{n'(\epsilon)} \int_{\Sigma_{i}^{\epsilon}} \int_{KY' \times \mathbb{R}^{+}} |\phi(z',y)|^{2} dy dz' \\ &\leq C\epsilon \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KY' \times \mathbb{R}^{+}} |\phi(z',y)|^{2} dy dz' = C\epsilon \|\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG))}^{2} \end{split}$$

THEOREM 7.2. – The sequence B_{ϵ}^{K} converges strongly in $\mathcal{L}(L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG)))$ to a limit operator B^{K} defined, for any $\phi \in L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG))$, by $B^{K}\phi = u^{K}$ the unique solution in $L^{2}(\Sigma; H^{1}_{0\#}(KG))$ of:

(78)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y} \left[A((x',0),y) \nabla_{y} u^{K}(x',y) \right] + u^{K}(x',y) = \phi(x',y) & \text{in } \Sigma \times KG \\ u^{K}(x',(y',0)) = 0 & \text{on } y_{N} = 0 \\ y' \to u^{K}(x',(y',y_{N})) \ [0,K]^{N-1} \text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

Moreover, B^K is a self-adjoint non-compact operator in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(KG)))$ satisfying

$$\sigma(B^K) \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}).$$

Remark that, since the solution u^K of (78), considered as a function of y, belongs to $H_{0\#}^1(KG)$, it decreases to 0 in a weak sense as y_N goes to infinity. Of course, by Rellich theorem (see e.g. [42], [28], [43]), we can also deduce from the strong convergence of B_{ϵ}^K to B^K the corresponding strong convergence of the spectral families which can be interpreted as an "averaged" convergence of the eigenvectors. To compute the spectrum of B^K , we diagonalize B^K by using a variant of the Bloch wave decomposition: Bloch frequencies are introduced only for the space variables parallel to the boundary Σ . The proof of this partial Bloch wave decomposition is identical to that of Lemma 4.9.

LEMMA 7.3. – For any function $\phi(y) \in L^2_{\#}(KG)$ there exists a unique family $\{\phi_{j'}(y)\} \in L^2_{\#}(G)^{K^{N-1}}$, indexed by a multi-index j' whose N-1 components belong to $\{0, \ldots, K-1\}$, such that

$$\phi(y) = \sum_{0 \le j' \le K-1} \phi_{j'}(y) e^{2\pi i \frac{j' \cdot y'}{K}}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{K^{N-1}} \int_{KG} |\phi|^2 dy = \sum_{0 \le j' \le K-1} \int_G |\phi_{j'}|^2 dy.$$

This decomposition, denoted by \mathcal{B}' , defines a unitary isometry from $L^2_{\#}(KG)$ into $L^2_{\#}(G)^{K^{N-1}}$

From Lemma 7.3, we easily deduce the following:

PROPOSITION 7.4. – The operator B^K can be diagonalized as

$$B^{K} = \mathcal{B}^{\prime *} \operatorname{diag} \left[(B_{j^{\prime}/K})_{0 \le j^{\prime} \le K-1} \right] \mathcal{B}^{\prime},$$

where, for each Bloch frequency $\theta' = j'/K$, $B_{\theta'}$ is a self-adjoint non-compact operator defined in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(G)))$ by

(79)
$$\begin{cases} B_{\theta'} : L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(G)) & \longrightarrow L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(G)) \\ \phi & \longrightarrow u, \end{cases}$$

where u(x',y) is the unique solution in $L^2(\Sigma; H^1_{0\#}(G))$ of

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y} \Big[A((x',0),y) \nabla_{y} \Big(u e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} \Big) \Big] + u e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} & \text{in } \Sigma \times G \\ u(x',(y',0)) = 0 & \text{on } y_{N} = 0 \\ y' \to u(x',(y',y_{N})) \; Y'\text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

The spectrum of B^K is then $\sigma(B^K) = \bigcup_{0 \le j' \le K-1} \sigma(B_{\frac{j'}{K}}).$

In order to characterize the spectrum of $B_{\theta'}$, we freeze the x' variable. For any fixed $x' \in \overline{\Sigma}$ and $\theta' \in Y'$ we introduce an operator $B_{\theta',x'}$ acting on $L^2_{\#}(G)$, defined by

(80)
$$\begin{cases} B_{\theta',x'} : L^2_{\#}(G) & \longrightarrow & L^2_{\#}(G) \\ \phi & \longrightarrow & u, \end{cases}$$

where u(y) is the unique solution in $H^1_{0\#}(G)$ (defined by 74)) of:

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y} \Big[A((x',0),y) \nabla_{y} \Big(u e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} \Big) \Big] + u e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} & \text{in } G \\ u(y',0) = 0 & \text{on } y_{N} = 0 \\ y' \to u(y',y_{N}) \; Y'\text{-periodic.} \end{cases}$$

Remark that each operator $B_{\theta',x'}$ is non-compact since the band G is unbounded. Therefore its spectrum may be not purely discrete. As usual its spectrum can be decomposed into its discrete and essential parts

$$\sigma(B_{\theta',x'}) = \sigma_{disc}(B_{\theta',x'}) \cup \sigma_{ess}(B_{\theta',x'}).$$

PROPOSITION 7.5. – The operator $B_{\theta',x'}$ is a self-adjoint non-compact operator whose essential spectrum is given by

$$\sigma_{ess}(B_{\theta',x'}) = \bigcup_{0 \le \theta_N \le 1} \sigma(T_{(\theta',\theta_N),(x',0)}),$$

where $T_{\theta,x}$ is the operator defined in Proposition 4.12. Furthermore, each discrete eigenvalue in $\sigma_{disc}(B_{\theta',x'})$ is locally continuous in (θ', x') , and its associated eigenvector is exponentially decreasing when y_N goes to infinity.

Globally, the spectrum of $B_{\theta',x'}$ is continuous in (θ',x') as a subset of \mathbb{R}^+ . Therefore, defining the limit spectrum associated to the surface Σ by

(81)
$$\sigma_{\Sigma} = \lim_{K \to +\infty} \sigma(B^K),$$

we have

$$\sigma_{\Sigma} = \bigcup_{\theta' \in Y'} \sigma(B_{\theta'}) = \bigcup_{x' \in \overline{\Sigma}, \theta' \in Y'} \sigma(B_{\theta', x'}).$$

Tome $77 - 1998 - n^{\circ} 2$

REMARK 7.6. – The discrete spectrum of $B_{\theta',x'}$ is made of, at most, a countable number of eigenvalues. In some cases it may be reduced to a finite number of eigenvalues, or even be empty, according to the choice of the matrix A(x,y). If A(x,y) depends only on y_N and has a simple form (for example, it takes only a finite number of values), an explicit computation of the discrete spectrum of $B_{\theta',x'}$ can be performed by solving a simple 1-D ordinary differential equation. Such an example shows that the discrete spectrum may be empty or not, depending on the values of A(x,y).

To prove Theorem 7.2, we recall the following results from [7] concerning two-scale convergence in the sense of boundary layers (for further references on boundary layers in homogenization, *see e.g.* [8], [9], [11], [27], [30]).

PROPOSITION 7.7.

(1) Let u_{ϵ} be a sequence in $L^{2}(\Omega)$ such that

$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C\sqrt{\epsilon}.$$

There exists a subsequence, still denoted by u_{ϵ} , and a limit $u_0(x', y) \in L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(KG))$ such that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges weakly in the sense of boundary layers to u_0 , i.e.

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}(x) \varphi(x', \frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx = \frac{1}{|KY'|} \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KG} u_0(x', y) \varphi(x', y) dx' dy$$

for all test functions $\varphi(x',y) \in L^2_{\#}(G;C(\overline{\Sigma}))$.

(2) Let u_{ϵ} be a sequence which two-scale converges weakly in the sense of boundary layers to u_0 , and furthermore satisfies

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\epsilon}} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = \frac{1}{|KY'|^{1/2}} \|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma \times KG)}.$$

Then, u_{ϵ} is said to two-scale converge strongly in the sense of boundary layers to u_0 , which means that, for any sequence v_{ϵ} in $L^2(\Omega)$ which two-scale converges weakly in the sense of boundary layers to a limit $v_0(x', y) \in L^2(\Sigma \times KG)$, one has

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}(x) v_{\epsilon}(x) \phi(x', \frac{x}{\epsilon}) dx = \frac{1}{|KY'|} \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KG} u_0(x', y) v_0(x', y) \phi(x', y) dx' dy,$$

for all smooth functions $\phi(x', y) \in C(\overline{\Sigma}; C^c_{\#}(KG))$. (3) Let u_{ϵ} be a sequence in $H^1_0(\Omega)$ such that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\epsilon}} \left(\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \right) \leq C.$$

There exists a subsequence, still denoted by u_{ϵ} , and a limit $u_0(x', y) \in L^2(\Sigma; H^1_{0\#}(KG))$ such that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges in the sense of boundary layers to u_0 , and $\epsilon \nabla u_{\epsilon}$ two-scale converges in the sense of boundary layers to $\nabla_u u_0$.

We also need another lemma, very similar to Lemma 4.7, the proof of which is safely left to the reader.

Lемма 7.8.

- (1) Let $\phi(x', y)$ be a function in $L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(KG))$. Then, the sequence $P^K_e \phi$ two-scale converges strongly in the sense of boundary layers to ϕ .
- (2) Let $\phi^{\epsilon}(x', y)$ be a sequence converging weakly to $\phi(x', y)$ in $L^{2}(\Sigma; L^{2}_{\#}(KG))$. Then, the sequence $P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi^{\epsilon}$ two-scale converges weakly in the sense of boundary layers to ϕ .

Proof of Theorem 7.2. – Let $\psi_{\epsilon}(x', y)$ be a sequence converging weakly to $\psi(x', y)$ in $L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(KG))$. For any $\phi \in L^2(\Sigma; L^2_{\#}(KG))$, we need to show that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KG} (B_{\epsilon}^{K} \phi) \psi_{\epsilon} dx' dy = \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KG} (B^{K} \phi) \psi dx' dy.$$

By definition of B_{ϵ}^{K} and since $(E_{\epsilon}^{K})^{*} = \epsilon^{-1} P_{\epsilon}^{K}$, one has

$$\frac{1}{K^{N-1}} \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KG} (B_{\epsilon}^{K} \phi) \psi_{\epsilon} dx' dy = \epsilon^{-1} \int_{\Omega} \tilde{S}_{\epsilon} (P_{\epsilon}^{K} \phi) (P_{\epsilon}^{K} \psi_{\epsilon}) dx = \epsilon^{-1} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon} (P_{\epsilon}^{K} \psi_{\epsilon}) dx,$$

where $u_{\epsilon} = \tilde{S}_{\epsilon}(P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi)$ is the unique solution of

$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla u_{\epsilon} + u_{\epsilon} = P_{\epsilon}^{K} \phi & \text{in } \Omega\\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

Since $||P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C\sqrt{\epsilon}$, the following estimate holds

$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)^{N}} \le C\sqrt{\epsilon}.$$

Using Proposition 7.7, it is easily seen that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges weakly in the sense of boundary layers to a limit $u^{K}(x', y)$ which is the unique solution of (78) in $L^{2}(\Sigma; H^{1}_{0\#}(G))$. Furthermore, since $P_{\epsilon}^{K}\phi$ two-scale converges strongly to ϕ , a simple computation (similar to that in the proof of Proposition 4.4) shows that u_{ϵ} two-scale converges strongly too. Finally, using Lemma 7.8, we can pass to the limit

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon} (P_{\epsilon}^{K} \psi_{\epsilon}) dx = \frac{1}{|KY'|} \int_{\Sigma} \int_{KG} u^{K} \psi dx' dy$$

Defining the operator B^K by $u^K = B^K \phi$, one can easily check its desired properties.

Proof of Proposition 7.5. – The operator $B_{\theta',x'}$ is clearly non-compact since G is unbounded. Let us first characterize its essential spectrum by using the Weyl criterion. Let μ be in $\sigma_{ess}(B_{\theta',x'})$ and v_n be an associated Weyl sequence of eigenvectors, *i.e.*

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_n\|_{L^2(G)} &= 1, \quad v_n \to 0 \text{ weakly in } L^2(G), \\ B_{\theta',x'}v_n - \mu v_n &= r_n \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(G). \end{aligned}$$

tome $77 - 1998 - n^{\circ} 2$

Let us check that for any R > 0 the sequence v_n converges strongly to 0 in $L^2(G_R)$ with $G_R = G \cap (Y' \times (0, R))$. By definition $w_n = B_{\theta', x'}v_n$ satisfies

(82)
$$-\operatorname{div}\left[A\nabla\left(w_{n}e^{2\pi i\theta'\cdot y'}\right)\right] + w_{n}e^{2\pi i\theta'\cdot y'} = v_{n}e^{2\pi i\theta'\cdot y'} \text{ in } G.$$

From equation (82) we deduce that w_n is uniformly bounded in $H^1(G_R)$ and, by Rellich compactness theorem, that w_n is compact in $L^2(G_R)$. Since $v_n = \frac{1}{\mu}w_n + r_n$ converges weakly to 0, we deduce that both v_n and w_n converge strongly to 0 in $L^2(G_R)$. Then, using again equation (82) it is easily seen that w_n converges strongly to 0 in $H^1(G_R)$.

Let $\phi(y_N) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be a smooth cut-off function such that $\phi \equiv 0$ on $] - \infty, 1]$ and $\phi \equiv 1$ on $[2; +\infty[$. We build a new Weyl sequence defined by $u_n = \phi v_n$ (remark that $\|\phi v_n\|_{L^2(G)} \to 1$). Defining $t_n = \phi w_n$, it is the solution in the entire band $[0, 1]^{N-1} \times] - \infty; +\infty[$ of

$$-\operatorname{div}\left[A\nabla\left(t_n e^{2\pi i\theta' \cdot y'}\right)\right] + t_n e^{2\pi i\theta' \cdot y'} = \phi v_n e^{2\pi i\theta' \cdot y'} + r'_n,$$

with

$$r'_{n} = -w_{n} \operatorname{div} \left[A \nabla \left(\phi e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} \right) \right] - 2A \nabla \left(w_{n} e^{2\pi i \theta' \cdot y'} \right) \cdot \nabla \phi$$

Since w_n converges strongly to 0 in $H^1_{loc}(G)$ and $\nabla \phi$ has compact support, it implies that r'_n converges strongly to 0 in the band $[0,1]^{N-1} \times] - \infty; +\infty[$. Therefore, u_n is a Weyl sequence for an equation similar to (82), but posed in the whole band $[0,1]^{N-1} \times] -\infty; +\infty[$. It is possible to apply to this equation the Bloch decomposition in the y_N direction, and therefore to prove that its spectrum is nothing but the union of the spectra of the operators $T_{(x',0),(\theta',\theta_N)}$ when θ_N runs in [0,1]. This yields that μ belongs to $\bigcup_{0 < \theta_N \leq 1} \sigma(T_{(x',0),(\theta',\theta_N)})$.

To prove the reverse inclusion, $\sigma(T_{(x',0)(\theta',\theta_N)}) \subset \sigma(B_{\theta',x'})$, we take an eigenvalue μ and eigenvector u of $T_{(x',0)(\theta',\theta_N)}$, normalized by $||u||_{L^2(Y)} = 1$. We build a Weyl sequence v_n for $B_{\theta',x'}$ defined by

$$v_n(y) = \frac{u(y)\psi_n(y_N)}{\|u\psi_n\|_{L^2(G)}},$$

where ψ_n is a sequence of smooth cut-off functions given by

$$\begin{cases} \psi_n(y_N) = y_N & \text{on } 0 \le y_N \le 1, \\ \psi_n(y_N) = 1 & \text{on } 1 \le y_N \le n, \\ \psi_n(y_N) = n + 1 - y_N & \text{on } n \le y_N \le n + 1, \\ \psi_n(y_N) = 0 & \text{on } n + 1 \le y_N. \end{cases}$$

Remark that $||u\psi_n||_{L^2(G)}$ goes to $+\infty$ with n. It is easily seen that v_n converges weakly to 0 in $L^2(G)$, while the function r_n defined by

$$-\operatorname{div}\left[A\nabla\left(v_n e^{2\pi i\theta' \cdot y'}\right)\right] + v_n e^{2\pi i\theta' \cdot y'} = \frac{1}{\mu}v_n e^{2\pi i\theta' \cdot y'} + r_n$$

converges strongly to 0 in $L^2(G)$. Therefore, μ belongs to the essential spectrum of $B_{\theta',x'}$.

We now prove that the eigenvectors associated to eigenvalues in $\sigma_{disc}(B_{\theta',x'})$ decay exponentially in G. Our argument is by contradiction of the Weyl criterion. Let $\mu \in \sigma_{disc}(B_{\theta',x'})$ and u(y) be an associated normalized eigenvector. Let ϕ_n be a sequence of smooth cut-off functions defined by

$$\begin{cases} \phi_n(y_N) = 0 & \text{on } 0 \le y_N \le n, \\ \phi_n(y_N) = y_N - n & \text{on } n \le y_N \le n+1, \\ \phi_n(y_N) = 1 & \text{on } n+1 \le y_N. \end{cases}$$

Let $u_n = \frac{u\phi_n}{\|u\phi_n\|_{L^2(G)}}$. Clearly u_n converges weakly to 0 in $L^2(G)$. However, any subsequence of u_n can not be a Weyl sequence for μ , since μ belongs to $\sigma_{disc}(B_{\theta',x'})$ which is disconnected from $\sigma_{ess}(B_{\theta',x'})$. Defining $r_n = B_{\theta',x'}u_n - \mu u_n$, this implies that there exists a positive constant C and an integer n_0 such that

$$\forall n \ge n_0 \quad \|r_n\|_{L^2(G)} \ge C.$$

Since u is an eigenvector, an easy computation yields

$$-\operatorname{div}\left[A\nabla\left(r_{n}e^{2\pi i\theta'\cdot y'}\right)\right] + r_{n}e^{2\pi i\theta'\cdot y'} = \frac{\mu}{\|u\phi_{n}\|_{L^{2}(G)}}\left(u\operatorname{div}\left[A\nabla\left(\phi_{n}e^{2\pi i\theta'\cdot y'}\right)\right] + 2A\nabla u\cdot\nabla\left(\phi_{n}e^{2\pi i\theta'\cdot y'}\right)\right).$$

Multiplying this equation by r_n and having in mind that $\nabla \phi_n$ has compact support in $G_n = G \cap (Y' \times (n, n+1))$ leads to the estimate

$$\|r_n\|_{L^2(G)} + \|\nabla r_n\|_{L^2(G)^N} \leq \frac{C}{\|u\phi_n\|_{L^2(G)}} \big(\|\nabla u\|_{L^2(G_n)^N} + \|u\|_{L^2(G_n)}\big).$$

Since $||r_n||_{L^2(G)} \ge C$, we deduce

$$||u\phi_n||_{L^2(G)} \le C(||\nabla u||_{L^2(G_n)^N} + ||u||_{L^2(G_n)}).$$

Since u satisfies the spectral equation in G it is not difficult to check that

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^2(G_n)^N} \le C \|u\|_{L^2(G_{n-1}\cup G_n\cup G_{n+1})}.$$

Therefore, defining a function $F(n) = ||u||_{L^2(Y' \times (n, +\infty))}^2$, we have proved

$$F(n+1) \le C(F(n-1) - F(n+2)).$$

Since F is decreasing, this implies $F(n+3p) \leq \left(\frac{C}{C+1}\right)^p F(n)$ which yields the exponential decay of u when y_N goes to $+\infty$.

It remains to prove that the eigenvalues in $\sigma_{disc}(B_{\theta',x'})$ are locally continuous with respect to (x', θ') . Labeling these discrete eigenvalues by decreasing order, this is a result of a classical spectral perturbation theorem (*see* Theorem 7.9 below, the proof of which may be found in *e.g.* [26], [28], [43]). The continuity of the eigenvalues of $\sigma_{disc}(B_{\theta',x'})$

tome 77 – 1998 – n° 2

is only local since the labeling of the eigenvalues allows for jumps when one discrete eigenvalue happens to merge into the essential spectrum as θ' varies. However, because $\sigma_{ess}(B_{\theta',x'}) = \bigcup_{0 \le \theta_N \le 1} \sigma(T_{(\theta',\theta_N),(x',0)})$, the essential spectrum of $B_{\theta',x'}$ is continuous (considered as a subset of \mathbb{R}^+), and so is its entire spectrum.

THEOREM 7.9. – Let A_n be a sequence of bounded operators in a Hilbert separable space which converges uniformly to a limit operator A in $\mathcal{L}(H)$. Let Γ be a smooth compact curve in the complex plane which encloses a finite number of eigenvalues in $\sigma_{disc}(A)$ and does not intersect $\sigma(A)$. There exists an integer n_0 such that for any $n \ge n_0$, the same curve Γ encloses the same number of eigenvalues (including multiplicities) in $\sigma_{disc}(A_n)$ and does not intersect $\sigma(A_n)$.

7.2. Completeness of the boundary layer spectrum

In this subsection we assume that Ω is a rectangle with integer dimensions, *i.e.*

(83)
$$\Omega = \prod_{i=1}^{N}]0; L_i[, \text{ and } L_i \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

The sequence of small parameters ϵ is restricted to be of the type

(84)
$$\epsilon_n = \frac{1}{n}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}^*,$$

in such a way that Ω is the union of a finite number of *entire periodic cells* $Y_i^{\epsilon_n}$. To simplify the notations, we shall not indicate the dependence on n and simply denotes by ϵ the particular sequence defined in (84).

REMARK 7.10. – Remark that the assumption on the geometry of Ω can be slightly relaxed. Any polygonal domain with faces parallel to the axis (i.e. the normal is everywhere one of the basis vectors) and having vertex with integer coordinates could equally be considered. The crucial point is that there still exists some periodicity of semi-infinite bands normal to the boundary. The general case of a non-polygonal domain and of any possible sequence ϵ is not treated here and is a difficult open question.

In the previous subsection, we proved that

$$\sigma_{\Sigma} \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}),$$

where σ_{Σ} is the boundary layer spectrum associated to the surface Σ , defined by (81) and \tilde{S}_{ϵ} is the operator defined by (72). Remark that, *due to our hypotheses on the domain* Ω and on the sequence ϵ , the surface Σ can be any of the faces of Ω defined by

$$\prod_{j=1\atop j\neq i}^{N}]0; L_j[\times\{0\} \quad \text{or} \quad \prod_{j=1\atop j\neq i}^{N}]0; L_j[\times\{L_i\} \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le N.$$

Of course, the analysis of the previous subsection can be repeated for any other lower dimensional manifolds (edges, corners, etc.) which compose the boundary of Ω . For $0 \le m \le N - 1$, let us define the *m*-dimensional parts of $\partial\Omega$

$$\Sigma_{m,\tau} = \prod_{j=1}^{m} [0; L_{\tau(j)}] \times \prod_{j=m+1}^{N} \{ x_{\tau(j)} = 0 \text{ or } L_{\tau(j)} \},$$

where τ is any permutation of $\{1, 2, ..., N\}$. There are $2^{N-m}C_N^{N-m}$ m-dimensional manifolds of the type $\Sigma_{m,\tau}$. A simple adaptation of the two-scale convergence in the sense of boundary layers for such manifolds allows to prove that, for any m and τ ,

$$\sigma_{\Sigma_{m,\tau}} \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}),$$

where $\sigma_{\Sigma_{m,\tau}}$ is the spectrum of a family of limit problems posed, not in a semi-infinite band G, but rather in a periodic domain bounded in the variables $x_{\tau(1)}, ..., x_{\tau(m)}$ and unbounded with respect to the other variables. Eventually, defining the union of all these spectra

(85)
$$\sigma_{\partial\Omega} = \bigcup_{m,\tau} \sigma_{\Sigma_{m,\tau}},$$

we deduce from the geometric assumptions on Ω and ϵ that

(86)
$$\sigma_{\partial\Omega} \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}).$$

Comparing our results (17) and (86), a completeness result amounts to link the two definitions of the boundary layer spectra $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ and σ_{boundary} .

THEOREM 7.11. – For the sequence ϵ_n defined by (84), the boundary layer spectrum satisfies

$$\sigma_{\text{boundary}} \subset \sigma_{\partial \Omega}.$$

Therefore, the limit spectrum of the sequence \tilde{S}_{ϵ_n} is precisely made of two parts, the Bloch and the boundary layer spectrum

$$\lim_{\epsilon_n \to 0} \sigma(\hat{S}_{\epsilon_n}) = \sigma_{\text{Bloch}} \cup \sigma_{\partial \Omega},$$

where the boundary layer spectrum $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ is explicitly defined by (85).

REMARK 7.12. – Theorem 7.11 does not state that σ_{boundary} , defined by (16), and $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ coincide. Indeed, we have shown in Proposition 7.5 that $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ contains some parts of the Bloch spectrum. It is not clear whether σ_{boundary} contains these parts of the Bloch spectrum too. The comparison of $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ and σ_{boundary} is definitely a very difficult question. Note, however, that $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ may contain eigenvalues which do not belong to σ_{Bloch} , according to Remark 7.6.

tome 77 ~ 1998 – $n^{\circ}\ 2$

To prove this completeness result, we need an intermediate result in the spirit of Section 5.

THEOREM 7.13. – Let us consider Ω as a cylindrical domain defined by $\Omega = \Sigma \times]0; L[$, with Σ a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} and L > 0. Consider a sequence of eigenvalues μ_{ϵ} and eigenvectors $v_{\epsilon} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that

(87)
$$\|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1, \quad \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mu_{\epsilon} = \mu,$$

(88)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} \left[A(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla v_{\epsilon} \right] + v_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} v_{\epsilon} \quad in \ \Omega, \\ v_{\epsilon} = 0 \qquad \qquad on \ \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Assume that μ belongs to σ_{boundary} , i.e. for any $n \geq 0$, there exists a constant C(n) such that

(89)
$$\|v_{\epsilon}d(x,\partial\Omega)^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \epsilon \|(\nabla v_{\epsilon})d(x,\partial\Omega)^n\|_{L^2(\Omega)^N} \le C(n)\epsilon^n.$$

Assume further that there exists a (N-1)-dimensional open set σ , with $\overline{\sigma} \subset \Sigma$, a positive number l, with 0 < l < L, and a positive constant c such that

(90)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\sigma \times]0, l[)} \ge c > 0.$$

Then μ belongs to the boundary layer spectrum associated to the surface Σ

$$\mu \in \sigma_{\Sigma},$$

where σ_{Σ} is defined by (81).

Let us admit for a moment Theorem 7.13, as well as its generalizations concerning all other manifolds $\Sigma_{m,\tau}$ making up the boundary $\partial\Omega$. We are in a position to complete the

Proof of Theorem 7.11. – Let $\mu \in \sigma_{\text{boundary}}$. By definition there exists a subsequence (still denoted by ϵ) of eigenvalues μ_{ϵ} and eigenvectors v_{ϵ} of \tilde{S}_{ϵ} such that

$$S_{\epsilon}v_{\epsilon} = \mu_{\epsilon}v_{\epsilon}$$
 with $||v_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = 1$ and $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mu_{\epsilon} = \mu$,

and, for all subset ω satisfying $\overline{\omega} \subset \Omega$,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\omega)} = 0.$$

If there exists a (N-1)-dimensional open subset σ_i , compactly embedded in $\prod_{\substack{j=1\\ j \neq i}}^{N}]0; L_j[$, a positive length $0 < l_i < L_i$, a positive constant c > 0, and another subsequence (still denoted by ϵ) such that

(91)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\sigma_{i} \times]0, l_{i}[)} \ge c \quad \text{or} \quad \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\sigma_{i} \times]l_{i}, L_{i}[)} \ge c,$$

then, by application of Theorem 7.13, the limit eigenvalue belongs to $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ as desired.

If (91) does not hold true for any such σ_i, l_i, c and subsequence ϵ , it implies that the L^2 -norm of v_{ϵ} concentrates near the lower-dimensional edges of the rectangle Ω . In this case, we repeat the above argument with a (N-2)-dimensional open set included in one of the set $\Sigma_{N-2,\tau}$, and so on up to the 0-dimensional set made of one of the vertex of Ω . A tedious but simple induction argument on the dimension m shows that there exists at least a dimension $0 \le m \le N-1$, a permutation τ , positive lengths $(l_{\tau(j)})_{m+1 \le j \le N}$, a positive constant c, and a subsequence ϵ such that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(\omega)} \ge c > 0,$$

with $\omega \subset \Omega$ of the type

$$\omega = \sigma \times \prod_{j=m+1}^{N} \left(\left] 0, l_{\tau(j)} \right[\text{ or } \left] l_{\tau(j)}, L_{\tau(j)} \right[\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{\sigma} \subset \prod_{j=1}^{m} \left] 0; L_{\tau(j)} \right[.$$

Then, applying an adequate generalization of Theorem 7.13, this proves that the limit eigenvalue belongs to $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$.

Proof of Theorem 7.13. – Let ψ_N and ψ' be two smooth cut-off functions satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \psi_N(x_N) \ge 0 & \forall x_N \in \mathbb{R}, \\ \psi_N(x_N) \equiv 1 & x_N < L/3, \\ \psi_N(x_N) \equiv 0 & x_N > 2L/3, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \psi'(x') \ge 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{N-1}, \\ \psi'(x') \equiv 1 & \text{in } \sigma, \\ \psi'(x') \equiv 0 & \text{outside } \Sigma. \end{cases}$$

Let us define a sequence u_{ϵ} , supported away from all boundaries of Ω except Σ , by

(92)
$$u_{\epsilon} = \frac{\psi(x_N)\psi'(x')v_{\epsilon}(x)}{\|\psi(x_N)\psi'(x')v_{\epsilon}(x)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}}.$$

It is not difficult to check that the sequence u_{ϵ} is a sequence of quasi eigenvectors in $\mathbb{R}^N_+ = \mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ in the sense that it satisfies

(93)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} \left[A\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) \nabla u_{\epsilon} \right] + u_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\epsilon}} u_{\epsilon} + r_{\epsilon} & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N_+, \\ u_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{ on } x_N = 0, \end{cases}$$

where r_{ϵ} is a remainder term which satisfies

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\langle r_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H^{1}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})}}{\|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})} + \epsilon \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})^{N}}} = 0,$$

for all non-zero sequences $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1_0(\mathbb{R}^N_+).$

Tome $77 - 1998 - n^{\circ} 2$

Remark that this definition of quasi eigenvectors in \mathbb{R}^N_+ is slightly different from that in \mathbb{R}^N (cf. Definition 5.4) since it features a Dirichlet boundary condition on $x_N = 0$. Let β_{ϵ} be a sequence of intermediate scales such that $\epsilon \ll \beta_{\epsilon} \ll 1$ and β_{ϵ} is an entire multiple of ϵ , *i.e.*

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \beta_{\epsilon} = 0, \quad \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\epsilon}{\beta_{\epsilon}} = 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\beta_{\epsilon}}{\epsilon} = p_{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The domain Ω is covered by a mesh of non-overlapping cubes $(P_i^{\epsilon})_{1 \leq i \leq n(\beta_{\epsilon})}$ of the type $[0, \beta_{\epsilon}]^N$. The number of such cubes is $n(\beta_{\epsilon})$, which is of the order of $\frac{|\Omega|}{\beta_{\epsilon}^N}$. We denote by x_i^{ϵ} the center of each cube P_i^{ϵ} , and by $i(\epsilon)$ the index such that the L^2 -norm of u_{ϵ} is maximum on the cube $P_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}$

(94)
$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon})} = \max_{1 \leq i \leq n(\beta_{\epsilon})} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P_{i}^{\epsilon})}.$$

Since $\sum_{1 \le i \le n(\beta_{\epsilon})} \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P_{i}^{\epsilon})}^{2} = 1$, we deduce that there exists a positive constant C > 0 such that

(95)
$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(P_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon})} \geq C\beta_{\epsilon}^{N/2}.$$

Since $x_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}$ runs in the compact set $\overline{\Omega}$, there exists a subsequence, still denoted by ϵ , and a limit point $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$, such that $x_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}$ converges to x_0 . Moreover, due to the estimate (89), x_0 must belong to $\sigma \subset \Sigma$. If it were not true, one would obtain a contradiction in (89) for $n \geq N/2$.

In order to localize u_{ϵ} around x_0 , we define a smooth function $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \phi \ge 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \\ \phi \equiv 1 & \text{in } [-1/2, +1/2]^N, \\ \phi \equiv 0 & \text{outside } [-1; +1]^N. \end{cases}$$

Introducing the cut-off function

$$\phi_{\epsilon}(x) = \phi\left(\frac{x - x_{i(\epsilon)}^{\epsilon}}{\beta_{\epsilon}}\right),$$

we define a function \tilde{u}_{ϵ} in $H_0^1(\mathbb{R}^N_+)$ by

(96)
$$\tilde{u}_{\epsilon} = \frac{\phi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}}{\|\phi_{\epsilon} u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{N})}}$$

As in the proof of Proposition 5.9, an adequate choice of the intermediate scale β_{ϵ} allows to prove that \tilde{u}_{ϵ} is also a sequence of quasi eigenvectors in \mathbb{R}^N_+ for the matrix $A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon})$, *i.e.* it satisfies

(97)
$$\begin{cases} -\epsilon^2 \operatorname{div} \left[A(x_0, \frac{x}{\epsilon}) \nabla \tilde{u}_\epsilon \right] + \tilde{u}_\epsilon = \frac{1}{\mu_\epsilon} \tilde{u}_\epsilon + r_\epsilon^0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N_+, \\ \tilde{u}_\epsilon = 0 & \text{on } x_N = 0, \end{cases}$$

where r_{ϵ}^{0} is a remainder term which satisfies

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\langle r_{\epsilon}^{0}, w_{\epsilon} \rangle_{H^{-1}, H_{0}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})}}{\|w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})} + \epsilon \|\nabla w_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})^{N}}} = 0.$$

for all non-zero sequences $w_{\epsilon} \in H^1_0(\mathbb{R}^N_+)$.

At this point we could apply the spectral and Bloch decompositions to the sequence \tilde{u}_{ϵ} (specialized for the case of the half-space domain \mathbb{R}^N_+), and mimic the proof of Theorem 5.2. However, we would run into serious troubles since the spectral decomposition is not discrete: the operators B_{θ',x'_0} have both discrete and essential spectrum. Therefore, one must use integration with respect to the spectral family rather than summation over discrete frequencies. This leads to intricate problems when some eigenvalues change type (discrete or essential) as θ' varies. To avoid these difficulties, we use a different strategy based on a rescaling or blow-up argument.

By the change of variables $y = x/\epsilon$ we define

$$U_{\epsilon}(y) = \epsilon^{N/2} \tilde{u}_{\epsilon}(\epsilon y)$$

which is easily seen to be normalized, $||U_{\epsilon}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})} = 1$, and solution of

(98)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y}[A(x_{0}, y)\nabla_{y}U_{\epsilon}] + U_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\star}}U_{\epsilon} + R_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{N}_{+}, \\ U_{\epsilon} = 0 & \text{on } y_{N} = 0, \end{cases}$$

where R_{ϵ} is a remainder term which converges strongly to 0 in $H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^N_+)$. Since U_{ϵ} is bounded in $H^1_0(\mathbb{R}^N_+)$, there exists a limit function U such that, up to a subsequence, U_{ϵ} converges weakly to U. Multiplying equation (98) by a test function and passing to the limit yields that U is a solution of

(99)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y}[A(x_{0}, y)\nabla_{y}U] + U = \frac{1}{\mu}U & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{N}_{+}, \\ U = 0 & \text{on } y_{N} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Let us introduce an operator B^{∞} defined by

$$B^{\infty}: L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})$$
$$F(y) \to V(y)$$

where V(y) is the unique solution in $H^1_0(\mathbb{R}^N_+)$ of

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y}[A(x_{0}, y)\nabla_{y}V(y)] + V(y) = F(y) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{N}_{+} \\ V(y) = 0 & \text{on } y_{N} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Loosely speaking B^{∞} is the limit, as K goes to infinity, of B^{K} defined in Theorem 7.2. It is easily checked that $\delta_{\epsilon} = B^{\infty}U_{\epsilon} - \mu U_{\epsilon}$ converges strongly to 0 in $H_{0}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+})$. If the solution U of (99) satisfies $U \neq 0$, we have found an eigenvector of B^{∞} for the eigenvalue μ . On the other hand, if U = 0, this implies that U_{ϵ} is a Weyl sequence of B^{∞} for the

Tome 77 – 1998 –
$$n^{\circ}$$
 2

204

eigenvalue μ which therefore belongs to its essential spectrum. In both cases, a simple Bloch decomposition of (99) shows that μ must belong to the spectrum σ_{Σ} .

REMARK 7.14. – Let us remark that Theorem 7.13 is valid for any choice of the sequence ϵ and not only for the particular sequence ϵ_n defined in (84). The interested reader will not fail to notice that the present proof of the completeness result is different from that of section 5 where we used the concept of Bloch measures in order to prove a similar completeness result by means of an energetic method. Here, we propose a new proof, based on a rescaling or blow-up argument, which is simpler, although less precise, and which could equally be applied in section 5. We use this new argument (already introduced in our work [7]) because the spectral decomposition of v_{ϵ} and the global continuity of the discrete eigenvalues (with respect to the Bloch parameter θ') are not obvious.

7.3. Analysis of the corner spectrum in 2-D

In the previous subsection the boundary layer spectrum $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ was defined as the union of all spectra of the type σ_{Σ} where Σ is any lower dimensional manifold composing the boundary $\partial\Omega$. When Σ is a (N-1)-dimensional hyperplane, a complete characterization of σ_{Σ} has been given in details. However, for lower dimensional manifolds we have not been very precise in the generalization of the limit spectrum σ_{Σ} to the case of edges, corners, and so on. The purpose of this subsection is to give a brief account of this generalization when analyzing the *corner spectrum* in two dimensions. Restricting ourselves to plane square domain Ω has the advantage of simplifying the exposition without loosing much generality.

The domain Ω is from now on a rectangle with integer dimensions, *i.e.*

$$\Omega =]0; L_1[\times]0; L_2[.$$

We describe the limit spectrum associated to the corner located at the origin. We define the upper right quarter of space $Q^+ = \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+$. We extend the operator \tilde{S}_{ϵ} , defined by (72), to the space $L^2(Q^+)$. Remark that it is a space of "corner boundary layers" without any periodic oscillations. The extended operator $C_{\epsilon} \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(Q^+))$ is defined by

(100)
$$C_{\epsilon} = E_{\epsilon} S_{\epsilon} P_{\epsilon}.$$

where P_{ϵ} is a projection from $L^2(Q^+)$ onto $L^2(\Omega)$, defined, for any $\phi(y) \in L^2(Q^+)$, by $(P_{\epsilon}\phi)(x) = \epsilon^{-2}\phi(\frac{x}{\epsilon})$ restricted to Ω , and E_{ϵ} is an extension from $L^2(\Omega)$ into $L^2(Q^+)$, defined, for any $f(x) \in L^2(\Omega)$, by $(E_{\epsilon}f)(y) = \epsilon^2 f(\epsilon y)$ extended by 0 in $Q^+ \setminus \epsilon^{-1}\Omega$. One can easily check that P_{ϵ} and E_{ϵ} are adjoint one from another and satisfy

$$P_{\epsilon}E_{\epsilon} = \mathrm{Id}_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \quad (P_{\epsilon})^{*} = E_{\epsilon}.$$

Furthermore, the sequence $E_{\epsilon}P_{\epsilon}$ converges strongly to the identity in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(Q^+))$.

THEOREM 7.15. – The sequence C_{ϵ} converges strongly in $\mathcal{L}(L^2(Q^+))$ to a self-adjoint and non-compact operator C defined, for any $\phi \in L^2(Q^+)$, by $C\phi = u$ the unique solution in $H^1(Q^+)$ of

(101)
$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}_{y}[A(0,y)\nabla_{y}u(y)] + u(y) = \phi(y) & \text{in } Q^{+} \\ u(y) = 0 & \text{on } y_{1} = 0 & \text{and } y_{2} = 0. \end{cases}$$

The spectrum of C satisfies

$$\sigma(C) \subset \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \sigma(\tilde{S}_{\epsilon}).$$

Problem (101) can not be simplified by using Bloch waves since Q^+ is not a periodic domain. The operator C is non-compact since the quarter space Q^+ is unbounded. Therefore its spectrum can be decomposed into its discrete and essential parts

$$\sigma(C) = \sigma_{disc}(C) \cup \sigma_{ess}(C).$$

PROPOSITION 7.16. – The essential spectrum of C is given by

$$\sigma_{ess}(C) = \bigcup_{0 \le \theta_1 \le 1, \ 0 \le \theta_2 \le 1} \sigma(T_{(\theta_1, \theta_2), 0}) \bigcup_{0 \le \theta_1 \le 1} \sigma(B_{\theta_1, 0}) \ \bigcup_{0 \le \theta_2 \le 1} \sigma(B_{\theta_2, 0}),$$

where $T_{\theta,x}$ is the operator defined in Proposition 4.12, $B_{\theta_1,x}$ and $B_{\theta_2,x}$ are the operators defined in Proposition 7.5 respectively for the boundaries $y_2 = 0$ and $y_1 = 0$. Furthermore, any eigenvector for a discrete eigenvalue in $\sigma_{disc}(C)$ is exponentially decreasing when y_1 or y_2 goes to infinity.

Remark that the essential spectrum of C has again a band structure. However, there may be discrete eigenvalues too in $\sigma(C)$. Therefore, the boundary layer spectrum $\sigma_{\partial\Omega}$ defined by (85) may contain isolated discrete eigenvalues.

The proofs of Theorem 7.15 and Proposition 7.16 are very similar to that of Theorem 7.2 and Proposition 7.5 and are left to the reader. Remark that the matrix A(x, y) and the operator $T_{\theta,x}$ are both evaluated at the origin x = 0 in the above results. Of course, there may be eigenvalues in the discrete spectrum of C which are not in any of the previous limit spectra.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of the French Government through its scientific committee Ecos. The research of the first author has partially been supported by the French Atomic Energy Commission (DRN/DMT, CEA Saclay) while that of the second author is supported by the chilean program of presidential chairs in science.

REFERENCES

- [1] F. AGUIRRE and C. CONCA, Eigenfrequencies of a tube bundle immersed in a fluid, Appl. Math. Optim., 18, 1988, pp. 1-38.
- [2] G. ALLAIRE, Homogenization and two-scale convergence, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 23, (6), 1992, pp. 1482-1518.
- [3] G. ALLAIRE and M. BRIANE, Multiscale convergence and reiterated homogenization, *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh*, *126A*, 1996, pp. 297-342.
- [4] G. ALLAIRE and C. CONCA, Analyse asymptotique spectrale de l'équation des ondes. Homogénéisation par ondes de Bloch, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Série I Math., t.321, 1995, pp. 293-298.

томе 77 – 1998 – N° 2

206

- [5] G. ALLAIRE and C. CONCA, Analyse asymptotique spectrale de l'équation des ondes. Complétude du spectre de Bloch, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Série I Math., t.321, 1995, pp. 557-562.
- [6] G. ALLAIRE and C. CONCA, Bloch wave homogenization for a spectral problem in fluid-solid structures, Arch. Rational. Mech. Anal., 135, (3), 1996, pp. 117-257.
- [7] G. ALLAIRE and C. CONCA, Boundary layers in the homogenization of a spectral problem in fluid-solid structures, to appear in *SIAM J. Math. Anal.*
- [8] I. BABUŠKA, Solution of interface problems by homogenization I, II, III, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 7, 1976, pp. 603-634, pp. 635-645 and 8, 1977, pp. 923-937.
- [9] N. BAKHVALOV and G. PANASENKO, Homogenization : averaging processes in periodic media, *Mathematics and its applications*, volume 36, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1990.
- [10] A. BENSOUSSAN, J.-L. LIONS and G. PAPANICOLAOU, Asymptotic analysis for periodic structures, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1978.
- [11] A. BENSOUSSAN, J.-L. LIONS and G. PAPANICOLAOU, Boundary layer analysis in homogenization of diffusion equations with Dirichlet conditions in the half space, in *Proc. of Intern. Symp. SDE, Kyoto* 1976, pp. 21-40, K. Ito ed., J. Wiley, New York, 1978.
- [12] F. BLOCH, Uber die Quantenmechanik der Electronen in Kristallgittern, Z. Phys. 52, 1928, pp. 555-600.
- [13] L. BOCCARDO and P. MARCELLINI, Sulla convergenza delle soluzioni di disequazioni variazionali, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl., 4, 1977, pp. 137-159.
- [14] C. CASTRO and E. ZUAZUA, Une remarque sur l'analyse asymptotique spectrale en homogénéisation, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Série 1 Math., t.322, 1996, pp. 1043-1047.
- [15] C. CASTRO and E. ZUAZUA, Une remarque sur les séries de Fourier non-harmoniques et son application à la contrôlabilité des cordes avec densité régulière, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., t. 323, 1996, pp. 365-370.
- [16] C. CONCA, J. PLANCHARD and M. VANNINATHAN, Limiting behaviour of a spectral problem in fluid-solid structures, Asymptotic Analysis, 6, 1993, pp. 365-389.
- [17] C. CONCA, J. PLANCHARD and M. VANNINATHAN, Fluids and periodic structures, RMA, 38, J. Wiley & Masson, Paris 1995.
- [18] C. CONCA and M. VANNINATHAN, A spectral problem arising in fluid-solid structures, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg., 69, 1988, pp. 215-242.
- [19] C. CONCA and M. VANNINATHAN, Homogenization of periodic structures via Bloch decomposition, it SIAM J. Appl. Math., 57 in press 1997.
- [20] G. DAL MASO, An Introduction to Γ-Convergence, Birkhäuser, Boston, 1993.
- [21] A. FIGOTIN and P. KUCHMENT, Band-gap structure of spectra of periodic dielectric and acoustic media. I, scalar model, SIAM J. Appl. Math., 56, 1996, pp. 68-88.
- [22] G. FLOQUET, Sur les équations différentielles linéaires à coefficients périodiques, Ann. Ecole Norm. Sér., 12 2, 1883, pp. 47-89.
- [23] I. M. GELFAND, Expansion in series of eigenfunctions of an equation with periodic coefficients, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, 73, 1950, pp. 1117-1120.
- [24] P. GÉRARD, Mesures semi-classiques et ondes de Bloch, in Séminaire Equations aux Dérivées Partielles 1990-1991, volume 16, Ecole Polytechnique, Palaiseau, 1991.
- [25] C. GÉRARD and A. MARTÍNEZ, J. Sjostrand, A mathematical approach to the effective Hamiltonian in perturbed periodic problems, *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 142, 1991, pp. 217-244.
- [26] I. C. GOHBERG and M. G. KREIN, Introduction to the theory of linear nonselfadjoint operators, AMS, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, Vol. 18, *Providence, Rhode Island*, 1969.
- [27] V. JIKOV, S. KOZLOV and O. OLEINIK, Homogenization of Differential Operators, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995.
- [28] T. KATO, Perturbation theory for linear operators, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1966.
- [29] S. KESAVAN, Homogenization of elliptic eigenvalue problems, I and II, Appl. Math. Optim., 5, 1979, pp. 153-167 and pp. 197-216.
- [30] J.-L. LIONS, Some methods in the mathematical analysis of systems and their control, Science Press, Beijing, Gordon and Breach, New York, 1981.
- [31] P.-L. LIONS and T. PAUL, Sur les mesures de Wigner, Revista Math. Iberoamer., 9, 1993, pp. 553-618.
- [32] P. A. MARKOWICH, N. J. MAUSER and F. POUPAUD, A Wigner function approach to semiclassical limits: electrons in a periodic potential, J. Math. Phys., 35, 1994, pp. 1066-1094.
- [33] R. MORGAN and I. BABUSKA, An approach for constructing families of equations for periodic media. I and II, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 22, 1991, pp.1-15, pp.16-33.

- [34] S. MOSKOW and M. VOGELIUS, First order corrections to the homogenized eigenvalues of a periodic composite medium. A convergence proof, to appear in *Proc. Roy. Soc.*, Edinburgh, 1996.
- [35] F. MURAT and L. TARTAR, H-convergence, in Topics in the mathematical modeling of composite materials, A. CHERKAEV and R. V. KOHN eds., series: Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, Birkhaüser, Boston 1997. French version: mimeographed notes, séminaire d'Analyse Fonctionnelle et Numérique de l'Université d'Alger, 1978.
- [36] G. NGUETSENG, A general convergence result for a functional related to the theory of homogenization, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 20 (3), 1989, pp. 608-623.
- [37] F. ODEH and J. KELLER, Partial differential equations with periodic coefficients and Bloch waves in crystals, J. Math. Phys. 5, 11, 1964, pp.1499-1504.
- [38] O. A. OLEINIK, A. S. SHAMAEV and G. A. YOSIFIAN, On the limiting behaviour of a sequence of operators defined in different Hilbert's spaces, Upsekhi Math. Nauk., 44, 1989, pp. 157-158.
- [39] J. PLANCHARD, Eigenfrequencies of a tube-bundle placed in a confined fluid, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg., 30, 1982, pp. 75-93.
- [40] J. PLANCHARD, Global behaviour of large elastic tube-bundles immersed in a fluid, Comput. Mech., 2, 1987, pp. 105-118.
- [41] M. REED and B. SIMON, Methods of modern mathematical physics, IV Analysis of operators, Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- [42] F. RELLICH, Storungtheorie der Spektralzerlegung, Math. Ann. 113, 1937, pp.600-619.
- [43] J. SÁNCHEZ-HUBERT and E. SÁNCHEZ-PALENCIA, Vibration and coupling of continuous systems. Asymptotic methods, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1989.
- [44] E. SÁNCHEZ-PALENCIA, Non homogeneous media and vibration theory, *Lecture notes in physics*, 127, Springer Verlag, 1980.
- [45] F. SANTOSA and W. SYMES, A dispersive effective medium for wave propagation in periodic composites, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 51, 1991, pp. 984-1005.
- [46] F. SANTOSA and M. VOGELIUS, First-order corrections to the homogenized eigenvalues of a periodic composite medium, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 53, 1993, pp. 1636-1668.
- [47] L. TARTAR, H-measures, a new approach for studying homogenization, oscillations and concentration effects in partial differential equations, *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh*, 115A, 1990, pp. 193-230.
- [48] M. VANNINATHAN, Homogenization and eigenvalue problems in perforated domains, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci., 90, 1981, pp. 239-271.
- [49] C. WILCOX, Theory of Bloch waves, J. Anal. Math., 33, 1978, pp. 146-167.

(Manuscript received September 1, 1997; accepted October 29, 1997.)

G. Allaire

Commissariat à l'Énergie Atomique, DRN/DMT/SERMA, CEA Saclay, 91191 Gif sur Yvette, France.

Laboratoire d'Analyse Numérique, Université Paris 6, 75252 Paris Cedex 05, France.

C. CONCA

Departamento de Ingeniería Matemática, Universidad de Chile, Casilla 170/3, Correo 3, Santiago, Chile.

208